A STUDY OF THE INTENT OF HIGHER EDUCATION PRESIDENTIAL ASSISTANTS TO CONTINUE EMPLOYMENT

BY

LARRY SHAWN BASSHAM

BACHELOR OF ARTS IN THEOLOGY HILLSDALE FREE WILL BAPTIST COLLEGE MOORE, OKLAHOMA MAY 1990

MASTER OF ARTS IN CHRISTIAN EDUCATION SOUTHWESTERN BAPTIST THEOLOGICAL SEMINARY FORT WORTH, TEXAS MAY 2000

SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF THE GRADUATE COLLEGE OF THE OKLAHOMA STATE UNIVERSITY IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF EDUCATION JULY 2009 COPYRIGHT

BY

LARRY SHAWN BASSHAM

JULY 2009

A STUDY OF THE INTENT OF HIGHER EDUCATION PRESIDENTIAL ASSISTANTS TO CONTINUE EMPLOYMENT

Dissertation Approved:

Dr. Edward Harris, Ph.D.

Committee Chair & Dissertation Adviser

Dr. Stephen P. Wanger, Ph.D.

Committee Member

Dr. A. Kenneth Stern, Ed.D.

Committee Member

Dr. Jerrold Leong, Ph.D.

Outside Adviser

Dr. A. Gordon Emslie, Ph.D.

Dean of the Graduate College

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to thank the members of my dissertation committee, Doctors Edward Harris, Kenneth Stern, Stephen Wanger, and Jerrold Leong for their advice and support. Dr. Mwarumba Mwavita was instrumental in providing statistical assistance and I greatly appreciate his advisory capacity.

There cannot be words to express my thanks to friends and family that have endured great hardships from me during this journey. Such a friend and colleague is Lihua Xu, and I am indebted for her assistance as a sounding board and statistical insights. The Hinesley sisters, Sue Ann and Katherine I am indebted for their gracious assistance To my family, Cynthia, Blake and Lucas, for all the missed events and personal time lost due to the commitment of the trek, I am forever indebted.

God have mercy on each of their lives.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiv
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURESx
CHAPTER I: THE STUDY1
Introduction1
Statement of the Problem
Purpose of the Study
Research Objectives
Research Questions
Hypotheses
Theoretical Perspectives
Overview of the Methodology
Research Design
Population, Participants and Sample
Questionnaire Measures
Data Collection
Analysis7
Significance of the Study7
Definition of Terms
Delimitations and Limitations

Summary	11
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	13
Concepts of Organizational Commitment and Career Stages	13
Organizational Commitment	14
Controversy over Organizational Commitment and Career Stages	25
The Commitment Scales and Career Stages	
Nature of Development	29
Evidence of Construct Validity	32
New Population for Organizational Commitment	42
Presidential Assistant Position	44
Position and Power.	54
Summary	57
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	58
Research Design	58
Research Questions	58
Hypothesis	58
Population, Participants and Sample	59
Data Collection	60
Process	60
Instrumentation	61
Storage of Data	63
Data Analysis	63
Summary	64

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS	65
Sample Characteristics	65
Response Rate	65
Demographics	66
Descriptive Statistics	71
Analysis of Hypotheses	76
Summary	82
CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION	84
Research Study Overview	84
Results and Findings	85
Study Response	86
Demographic Profile	87
Research Objectives	90
Implications	92
Theory	92
Research	93
Practice	94
Future Research	96
Conclusion	97
REFERENCES	98
APPENDICES	122
Appendix A: Internal Review Board (IRB) Approval	123
Appendix $B = 1$. Letter of Introduction	124

Appendix B – 2: Follow-Up Notice	126
Appendix B – 3: Final Notice	127
Appendix C: Survey Introduction & Implied Consent Statement	128
Appendix D: Survey Instrument	129
Appendix E: TCM Employee Commitment Survey License Agreement	
– For Student Use	131

VITA

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Operationalizations of Career Stage	24
Table 2 Internal Consistency Reliabilities for the TCM	34
Table 3 Test-Retest Reliabilities for Commitment Measures	36
Table 4 Varimax Rotated Factor Matrix Based on the TCM Correlations	39
Table 5 Demographics from Survey Responses	67
Table 6 Myers-Briggs Personality Preference Types	71
Table 7 Descriptive Statistics for Variables	73
Table 8 Organizational Commitment Components at Career Stage Levels	74
Table 9 Descriptive Statistics for Skewness and Kurtosis and Multicollinearity	76
Table 10 Correlations Between Career Stages and TCM	77
Table 11 Coefficients	80
Table 12 Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)	81
Table 13 Model Summary	82

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Three-Component Model (TCM) of Organizational Commitment	30
Figure 2. Regional Proportions Reported in Sample	70

CHAPTER I: THE STUDY

Introduction

Many organizations recognize that employee retention is a valued investment. Employees are vital not only in that they stay with their organization but also in that they produce results. Supervisors constantly strive to motivate employees to perform consistently at their peak. Researchers have contended that the key to employee retention, increased involvement and high motivation is to increase the level of organizational commitment (Allen & Meyer, 1990a; D. Caldwell & O'Reilly III, 1990; Gonzalez & Guillen, 2008; Meyer & Allen, 1987a; Mowday, Porter, & Steers, 1982).

Three general themes of organizational commitment have emerged -- affective attachment, perceived costs and obligation (Allen & Meyer, 1990a; Mowday, et al., 1982; Turner Parish, Cadwallader, & Busch, 2008). Employees with strong affective commitment remain because they *want* to do so. Those with strong continuance commitment stay because they *need* to because of the perceived costs, and those with strong normative commitment stay because they feel they *ought* to do so (Allen & Meyer, 1990a; Meyer & Allen, 1987b; Meyer, Paunonen, Gellatly, Goffin, & Jackson, 1989; Turner Parish, et al., 2008).

This study seeks to determine the relationship between career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) and the three-component commitment levels (Affective Commitment Scale – ACS, Continuance Commitment Scale – CCS

and Normative Commitment Scale – NCS) and the ability of this relationship to predict the intent to stay of presidential assistants in both private and public higher education institutions in the United States. Commitment theory provided the theoretical framework for the study, with the Three-Component Model (TCM) of organizational commitment developed by Meyer and Allen (1991) as the measurement. This study includes a review of the theoretical and research literature that has relevance to organizational commitment as well as the model this study builds.

Statement of the Problem

Organizational commitment has emerged as a central concept of employee attitudes and behaviors in the organizational psychology, organizational behavior and human resource management studies (Mathieu & Zajac, 1990; Meyer & Allen, 1991; Mowday, 1998; Mowday, et al., 1982; Mowday & Sutton, 1993). Attitudes and behaviors of employees associated with their intent to stay employed have been the major thrust of research. These attitudes and behaviors, known as the psychological linkage between employee and organization, have been quantified using various scales and measures. Such studies have shown that employee attitudes and behaviors vary over time spent on the job (Gonzalez & Guillen, 2008; Mowday, et al., 1982; Porter & Lawler III, 1968; Porter, Steers, Mowday, & Boulian, 1974; Steers & Mowday, 1987; Tomas & Manuel, 2008). As well, many studies pointed out that career stages predicted the relationships between work attitudes and behaviors (Allen & Meyer, 1990a; McElroy, Morrow, & Wardlow, 1999; Meyer & Allen, 1987b; Morrow & McElroy, 1987). However, other studies point out that the relationship between career stage variables and work attitudes may be weak and may have been overstated (Morrow & McElroy, 1987).

The term *career stage* suggests a determined period; some researchers have treated age and tenure (organizational and positional) as continuous variables to define career stages. Career stage variables have been correlated in several studies; however, they were not identical constructs (Meyer, Allen, & Smith, 1993). Thus, analyses were needed to isolate the independent effects of age, organizational tenure and positional tenure. As well, since commitment to an organization can take multiple forms (Allen & Meyer, 1990a; Meyer, et al., 1993; Meyer, Bobocel, & Allen, 1991; Meyer, et al., 1989), career stages should be examined as predictors of the three-components of commitment on college and university presidential assistants in higher education institutions, both public and private, in the United States.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this research study was to examine the three-components of organizational commitment (affective, continuance and normative) relative to the career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States. This study will examine the likelihood of career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) to predict the commitment levels (affective, continuance and normative) which presidential assistants report. Moreover, the relative contributions isolated each career stage to each of the three-components of commitment for examination.

3

Research Objectives

Research Questions

This study will focus on the following research questions:

- Is there a relationship between career stages and the three-components of commitment of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States?
- 2. Do career stages predict the commitment of presidential assistants to stay employed with their current institutions?

Hypotheses

The following null hypotheses (Ho) will guide this study:

- Ho1: There is no significant relationship between career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) and three-component commitment levels (affective, continuance and normative commitments) of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States.
- Ho2: Career stages do not significantly predict the commitment of college and university presidential assistants to stay employed with their current institution.

Theoretical Perspectives

Organizational commitment has been conceptualized and measured in various manners. This research takes the perspective of commitment based on a threecomponent model, incorporating the major conceptualizations described in the literature (Allen & Meyer, 1990b; Meyer & Allen, 1984, 1987b). Specifically, the Three-Component Model (TCM) Employee Commitment proposes that employees remain with an organization because of their commitment to one of three approaches. These include: (1) *desire*, which results in an emotional commitment to the organization (affective commitment), (2) determination that the *costs* of disassociation with the organization to be too high (continuance commitment), and (3) the oppression of loyalty or feelings of *obligation* to remain with the organization (normative commitment).

Literature suggests that affective commitment developed because of work experiences, which increased the employees' feelings of challenge and comfort in the organization (Allen & Meyer, 1996; Meyer & Allen, 1987b; Meyer, Allen, & Gellatly, 1990; Meyer, et al., 1993). The employees felt that they had found their niche that benefited both them and the organization. Continuance commitment, on the other hand, developed as a cost factor analysis. The parameters of this commitment took into consideration the amount of the employees' investment in the organization for the position and the degree of loss encountered if they pursued other employment alternatives. It was argued in the literature that the antecedents of normative commitment, including the employees' moral and ethical standards, were overwhelmingly strong which influenced them to remain in their current position (Allen & Meyer, 1996; Meyer & Allen, 1984, 1991; Meyer, et al., 1990; Meyer, Srinivas, Lal, & Topolnytsky, 2007). Thus, it was believed that this strong stance of feeling obligated based on loyalty kept the employee committed to the organization (Heere & Dickson, 2008).

Overview of the Methodology

Research Design

The data were gathered through an online survey. Ritter and Sue (2007b) stated that an online survey solves many of the problems associated with traditional survey methods which have a known limited population. The online survey allows prompt responses directly from the identified population, which was specifically invited to participate through an online email.

Population, Participants and Sample

The population defined for this study was all of the college and university presidential assistants in four-year degree-granting programs in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States. Participants were those who voluntarily chose to complete the online survey instrument. Those who met all the criteria of holding a position as a college and university presidential assistant in either public or private higher education institution, in the United States, and who successfully completed the online survey were defined as the sample of this study.

Questionnaire Measures

Organizational Commitment. Organizational commitment was assessed using the Affective (ACS), Continuance (CCS), and Normative Commitment (NCS) Scales of the TCM, each of which is made up of eight items (Allen & Meyer, 1990a) (see Appendix D).

Career Stage Variables. Respondents were asked their age, how long they have worked for their organization and how long they have been in their current position in the organization.

Data Collection

An online survey, patterned after Dillman (2007), was used to collect data from participants. All survey responses were collected in a Concurrent Versions System (CVS) file and the database management system housed on the Oklahoma State University server managed the collected data from the survey website. Data collected through the online questionnaire were downloaded into an Excel file and then imported into SPSS for Windows version 16.0. Each variable existed in SPSS as numerically coded data.

Analysis

Following Allen and Meyer's (1993) division of career stage groups, presidential assistants were divided on the basis of three divisions: (1) age (< 31 years, 31 - 44 years, > 44 years), (2) organizational tenure (< 2 years, 2 - 10 years, > 10 years) and (3) positional tenure (< 2 years, 2 - 10 years, > 10 years). The means for the ACS, CCS and NCS scores of the presidential assistants across each career stage were found and presented. As well, summaries of the results of multiple regression analyses were presented, comparing each commitment component across each career stage.

Significance of the Study

This study examined the three-component assessment of work attitudes and behaviors across career stages of presidential assistants in both public and private four-year degree-granting higher education institutions in the United States. The knowledge gleaned from this study will contribute to the understanding of organizational commitment of intent to stay within a career stage context, using a population for which there were limited studies. If particular organizational commitments of presidential assistants over career stages could be identified, then optimization of effective work attitudes and behaviors could be applicable. If a presidential assistant's executive could identify his or her organizational commitment at a particular career stage, then the proper use of motivation to produce effective work attitudes and behaviors could be applicable. Creating a more effective work environment in the office of the president as a result of the analysis from this study would benefit higher education institutions.

Definition of Terms

Several terms used throughout this document carry meanings specific to this research as it relates to higher education. The following terms are defined to offer a common understanding between the researcher and the reader.

Career stage variables / Career stages. Many studies have used a number of variables to define career stage in comparison to work attitudes. This research identifies three variables of career stages: employee age, organizational tenure and positional tenure, as noted by Morrow and McElroy (1987).

Organizational commitment. This term refers to a psychological link between the employee and his or her organization that makes it less likely that the employee will voluntarily leave the organization (Allen & Meyer, 1996).

President. This person is the executive officer of a higher education institution who holds the highest administrative position on campus. These individuals were included but not limited to the president of the university system, chief executive officer, campus president or chancellor. This does not include the provost, who serves

under a president and has an office on the same campus as the presiding executive officer.

Presidential Assistant. This is the executive assistant to the highest executive officer in the higher education institution. This individual is recognized as the "right hand" of the president (Lingenfelter, 2001, p. 72, 2004, p. 13); however, the amount of power, authority and responsibility differ from campus to campus. In general, the primary responsibility of the presidential assistant is to manage quality image control of the president (Lingenfelter, 2004, p. 14). Whether or not this professional is considered to have line authority depends entirely upon the particular president. Fisher (1984; 1996) characterized the presidential assistant as a vice president without a portfolio because without the president the assistant has no professional existence (1984, p. 83; 1996, p. 114).

Presidential assistants' titles include assistant to the president, assistant to the president for – *specific area*, chief of staff, executive to the president, general counsel secretary, governing board secretary, president's personal assistant or president's personal secretary. Many presidential assistants have specialized duties and responsibilities. Nonetheless, as a profession, presidential assistants refuse to be segmented and would rather be defined as a congenial group who assist the executive officers (NAPAHE, 2007).

Three-components of commitment. The TCM of commitment (Meyer & Allen, 1991, 1997) measurements reflect the employee's self-reported attitude toward remaining employed with the organization. The three-components of this measurement of organizational commitment are Affective Commitment Scales (ACS), Continuance

Commitment Scales (CCS), or Normative Commitment Scales (NCS). All threecomponents of commitment have straightforward implications for either leaving or staying with an organization. Meyer and Allen (1988) developed ACS to measure how strongly attached to the organization the employee feels. The authors developed CCS to measure disposition of an employee's perceived cost of leaving the institution, whereas NCS was developed to measure the employee's perceived obligation to the institution. The differences between the components provide a meaningful assessment regarding the commitment of the employee to remain at the institution. Each is scored separately to identify the "commitment profile" of the employee to the organization (Meyer & Allen, 1997).

Delimitations and Limitations

Delimitations. This study focuses on presidential assistants at four-year degreegranting, private and public colleges and universities in the United States who, according to the literature, have a wide range of duties that vary from institution to institution (Fisher, 1984, 1985; Malloy, 2003; McDade, Putnam, & Miles, 1996; McDade, Putnam, & Miles, 1999; O'Reilly Jr., 2000; Quatroche, 1990). As well, the position may encompass many different titles. Despite efforts to assure an accurate and complete list of participants, it is acknowledged that it is not possible to do so.

Limitations. Four limitations affect the generalizability of the findings in this study. First, this study did not gather information from the clerical pool staff of the president's office or executive assistants of other senior or middle staff administrators. The study's participants were only those who the president had been given authority to represent his or her post to other stakeholders of the educational institution and to serve

as a gatekeeper to the highest executive office of the higher education institution. Second, results of this study could not be generalized beyond the stated population, presidential assistants at four-year degree-granting, private and public colleges and universities in the United States. Applications from this research may reasonably be applied to all presidential assistants who serve in higher education institutions within the United States, but caution should be applied due to the limitation of this study. Third, the findings of the study were limited to the extent that the participants were willing to report their personal attitudes and behaviors. Fourth, presidential assistants responded to the survey from their individual perceptions that included personal definitions and life experiences, which could provide socially desired answers.

Summary

This study is organized into five chapters. This chapter introduces the problem of organizational commitment as an emerging central concept in the study of work attitudes and behavior. The research indicates a strong correlation between organizational commitment and work attitudes and behavior. The intent of this research was to examine the extent to which career stage variables (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) predicted organizational commitment of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States.

The remaining four chapters are briefly summarized. Chapter II features an analysis of literature related to this study. Information about existing knowledge of presidential assistants, the three-component model of organizational commitment and career stage variables is presented. Chapter III outlines the methodology of how the

11

study participants were identified and selected, as well as describes the method of data collection, survey design and data analyzed. Chapter IV provides a presentation of the data. Finally, an analysis of the data, study conclusions and suggestions for future research are presented in Chapter V.

CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Organizational commitment has been examined extensively (Allen & Meyer, 1993; Lee, Ashford, Walsh, & Mowday, 1992; Mathieu & Zajac, 1990; Meyer, et al., 1990; Meyer, et al., 2007; Mowday, 1998; Steers, Mowday, & Shapiro, 2004). A comprehensive review of the organizational commitment literature will not be presented here because of its voluminous nature. However, organizational commitment, career stages and the model (TCM) upon which this study builds upon are discussed from the theoretical and research literature that has relevance to this research.

Concepts of Organizational Commitment and Career Stages

Literature has revealed a link between organizational commitment and several outcomes, such as absenteeism, job satisfaction and turnover (Ambrose, Arnaud, & Schminke, 2008; Iverson & Buttigieg, 1999; Mathieu & Zajac, 1990; Mowday, et al., 1982; Tsai, Wu, Yen, Ho, & Huang, 2005). A number of studies have suggested that career stages predicted the relationship between work attitudes and behaviors (Allen & Meyer, 1993; McElroy, Morrow, Crum, & Dooley, 1995; McElroy, et al., 1999; Morrow & McElroy, 1987). Researchers suggest that when employers could identify the type of commitment their employees held at a particular age or tenure with the organization or position then an appropriate stimulus of incentives could be initiated to increase efficiency and productivity (Gonzalez & Guillen, 2008; Mowday, et al., 1982; Porter & Lawler III, 1968; Porter, et al., 1974; Steers & Mowday, 1987; Tomas &

Manuel, 2008). However, inconsistencies and diversity of career stages have hampered the comparisons across the examined variables of work attitudes and career stages (Morrow & McElroy, 1987).

Researchers have embraced the concept that links the relationship between the employee and organization as a psychological state – both attitudinally and behaviorally. This psychological state should not be restricted to value and goal comparisons as described by either attitudinal and/or behavioral approaches; rather, the relationship is a result of the employee's personal desire, need and/or obligation to maintain membership in the organization (Meyer & Allen, 1991).

Organizational commitment has emerged as a central concept in studies in which work attitudes, behaviors and career stage variables were examined (Mathieu & Zajac, 1990; Meyer & Allen, 1991; Mowday, 1998; Mowday, et al., 1982; Veiga, 1973, 1983). As organizational commitment studies have developed, both theoretical and practical constructs have advanced. Many of these studies have suggested that career stages moderated the relationship between work attitudes and behaviors (Burke, 1989; Morrow & McElroy, 1987; Mount, 1984; Raelin, 1985; Rush, Peacock, & Milkovich, 1980; Slocum Jr. & Cron, 1985; Smart, 1998; Stumpf & Rabinowitz, 1981). The following section introduces a review of the theoretical and research literature, which has relevance to organizational commitment and the model upon which this study, builds on.

Organizational Commitment

Organizational commitment and its relationship with various situational characteristics studied attitudes and behaviors of employees in the last 30 years. The

focus of past research has been on the specific negative attitudes and behaviors in which dissatisfied employees engaged as a result of their commitment or lack of commitment to the organization, effect on organizational outcomes and negative consequences on employees (Judge, Hanisch, & Drankoski, 1995).

Commitment has been operationally defined as involving an employee's loyalty to the organization, his or her willingness to exert some measure of effort on behalf of the organization, the degree of his or her goal and value congruency with the organization and his or her desire to maintain membership (Mowday, Steers, & Porter, 1979). The defined link between organizational commitment and various indicators, such as absenteeism, job satisfaction and turnover, has been established in the literature (Ambrose, et al., 2008; Iverson & Buttigieg, 1999; Mathieu & Zajac, 1990; Mowday, et al., 1982; Tsai, et al., 2005).

Historically, attitudinal or behavioral perspectives were the two approaches that defined and measured organizational commitment. Mowday and his colleagues (Mowday, et al., 1979; Porter, et al., 1974) defined, the most commonly known perspective of the two, the attitudinal approach:

The relative strength of an individual's identification is with an involvement in a particular organization. Conceptually, three factors have characterized this relationship: a) a strong belief in and acceptance of the organization's goals and values; b) a willingness to exert considerable effort on behalf of the organization; and c) a strong desire to maintain membership in the organization (Mowday, et al., 1982, p. 27).

Thus, organizational commitment, from an attitudinal perspective, was a result of the employee's belief system and attitude in the employed institution. The attitudes, which an employee reveals, will reflect a "bottom-line" of how well or how poorly the treatment from the organization was perceived (Judge, et al., 1995; Kinicki, Carson, & Bohlander, 1992; Spector, 1985, 1997).

Employee attitudes have been evaluated through a variety of aspects, known as facets; these have included praise for accomplishments, medical benefits, human relations skills, coworkers, nature of the work and pay, among many others (Kinicki, et al., 1992; Spector, 1997; Spector, et al., 2007) from the construct of job satisfaction (Cranny, Smith, & Stone, 1992). Some have referred to job satisfaction in organizational commitment a barometer of human resource management (Judge, et al., 1995).

Some to be an affective or emotional reaction to the job from the employee's evaluation of the circumstances to those desired has described job satisfaction (Cranny, et al., 1992; Locke, 1969, 1970; Spector, et al., 2007). Heider (1944, 1958) suggested that these reactions were a direct result of the employee's cognitive decisions based on (1) suffering, experiencing or being affected by others, (2) causation of circumstances or events, (3) ability or aptitude of the individual, (4) the will of the individual, (5) the desire of the individual, (6) the individual's sentiments, (7) the need to belong and connect and (8) an obligation of morality.

In contrast, the behavioral approach, based on the work of Becker (1960), defines organizational commitment as "a structural phenomenon which occurs as a result of individual – organizational transactions and alterations in side-bets or investments over time" (Hrebiniak & Alutto, 1972, p. 556). The individual gambles or invests himself or herself through action into the organization, believing in a positive return over time. Thus, the employee analyzes the personal investment placed into the institution in order to find value of commitment.

In the behavioral approach, research has focused on identifying conditions under which a behavior was repeated and the effects of such behavior on attitude change (O'Reilly III & Chatman, 1986). This approach measures the totality of person-job fit, person-job interaction and job performance as the organizational commitment of an employee through behavioral responses. The concept of person-job fit attempts to link individual characteristics and particular aspects of employee response to the workplace (Ambrose, et al., 2008; D. Caldwell & O'Reilly III, 1990). The person-job interaction examines the results of person-job fit to modify work performance and effectiveness of the employee (Dawis, 1992; Lofquist & Dawis, 1969; D. J. Weiss, Dawis, Lofquist, & England, 1967; H. M. Weiss, 2002). The job performance examines the mechanism of the workplace and the interaction between employees, the product or work and coworkers (Hammer & Avgar, 2005; Hulin, 1991; Judge, Bono, Thoresen, & Patton, 2001).

In the late 1980s and early 1990s, researchers of the various definitions and measures of organizational commitment combined these two perspectives – specifically, the inclusion of the affective commitment and the perceived cost commitment of the attitudinal and behavioral approaches. This combination resulted in the conceptualization of an organizational commitment model, known as the Three-Component Model (TCM) of organizational commitment (Allen & Meyer, 1990a). Developed by leading researchers Natalie Allen and Allen Meyer from University of Western Ontario, TCM expands the incorporation of both attitudinal and behavioral approaches to a committed mindset. This particular approach embraces the concept that links the relationship between the employee and the organization as a psychological state (i.e., feelings and/or beliefs). Allen and Meyer contend that the attitudinal and/or behavioral approaches which described this psychological state should not be restricted to value and goal congruence (Mowday, et al., 1982); rather, the relationship reflected a desire, need and/or obligation to maintain membership in the organization (Meyer & Allen, 1991).

Allen and Meyer (1990a) identified this relationship as a construct of commitments, which they labeled as affective, continuance and normative commitment. Allen & Meyer's (1993) construct emphasizes that an employee remains with an organization because of: (1) *affective commitment* or desire to remain, (2) *continuance commitment* or recognition that the costs associated with leaving would be high, and/or (3) *normative commitment* or feeling of obligation to remain.

Mowday and et al. (1982) believed the defining premise of organizational commitment was that an employee (1) felt a strong attachment and belonging with the organization; (2) believed in the goals and values of the organization; and (3) possessed a willingness to put forth effort on behalf of the organization. Meyer and Herscovitch (2001) explained affective commitment as "a mind-set characterized by a desire to follow a course of action" (p. 308). Public agencies view this commitment as very important. Affective commitment explains more than 27% of the variation in a public employee's commitment to the organization (Reid, Riemenschneider, Allen, &

Armstrong, 2008). Mowday and Porter, with their colleagues, characterized affective commitment as a strong indicator of an employee's involvement in and membership with the organization (Mowday, et al., 1982; Mowday, et al., 1979; Mowday & Sutton, 1993; Porter, et al., 1974).

Prior to TCM, the most commonly used measure of an employee's affective commitment to the organization was the Organizational Commitment Questionnaire (OCQ, see Mowday, et al., 1979). The OCQ was a 15-item scale designed to assess the employee's acceptance of the organization's values, the willingness to exert effort and the desire to maintain membership in the organization. Mowday and his colleagues provided strong evidence for the internal consistency, test-retest reliability and convergent, discriminant and predictive validity of the OCQ instrument, which have been built upon (Lee, et al., 1992; Mowday, 1998; Mowday, et al., 1982; Mowday, et al., 1979; Mowday & Sutton, 1993; Steers, et al., 2004).

Continuance commitment was believed to be developed on the basis of an "economic rationale" (Meyer & Allen, 1984; Stevens, Beyer, & Trice, 1978). The commitment was perceived as continuing an action after the employee considered the perceived costs associated with termination. Becker (1960) described the commitment as a disposition to engage in "consistent lines of activity" (p. 33) resulting in the accumulation of "side-bets" that would be lost if the activity were discontinued (Meyer & Allen, 1984). As an example, Becker used a man who bets a friend that he will not pay more than his first offer for a house. To pay more then would result in a substantial loss, the possibility of which commits him to his initial bid (Meyer & Allen, 1984). To state it in a different way, Meyer and Herscovitch (2001), explained that "individuals

19

can become committed to a course of action because of the perceived cost of failing to do so" (p. 308). Thus, a perceived lack of alternatives may have intensified the perceived cost of leaving.

Several different measures were developed to assess continuance commitment; however, each had its problems. For example, Ritzer and Trice (1969) and Hrebiniak and Alutto (1972) developed measures which respondents identified as various inducements that would result in their termination with the organization (e.g., increases in pay, status, freedom and promotional opportunity upon remaining with the organization). Other researchers challenged whether these measures truly reflected a perceived cost–induced commitment (Meyer & Allen, 1984; Stebbins, 1970). Results indicated that when the employee scored high in both ACS and CCS, the employee was unwilling to leave the organization despite the availability or attractiveness of alternative employment.

Normative commitment, the least common but equally viable approach, was developed from the generational emphasis on loyalty to an employer as an obligation to remain with the organization (Allen & Meyer, 1990a, 1993; Meyer & Allen, 1991). This loyalty perspective was the result of the individual's belief that to remain was an obligation of the right and/or moral thing to do (Marsh & Mannari, 1977; Meyer & Herscovitch, 2001; Wiener, 1982).

Marsh and Mannari (1977) developed a four-item measure of lifetime commitment which examined the employee's intention to remain with the organization until retirement. The internal consistency estimate of coefficient alpha for this scale was 0.38 for all employees. Meyer and Allen (1991) questioned the certainty of this explanation for the employee's intention to remain employed or whether there were more influencing factors which were hidden and unknown.

Wiener and Vardi (1980) developed a three-item scale to measure normative commitment. Respondents' scores indicated the extent they believed individuals should be loyal to their organizations, make sacrifices on the organization's behalf and not criticize the organization. The internal consistency was 0.60 for coefficient alpha; however, no psychometric properties of the scale were reported.

Development of career stages was a direct result of an attempt to measure organizational commitment. Through such construct developments, researchers have attempted to treat age, organizational tenure and positional tenure as continuous variables to define career stages (Morrow & McElroy, 1987). Through the development of career stages, many researchers have advocated one independent variable over another as an operational definition of career stage; however, the advocated variables were not identical constructs (Table 1). For instance, the criterion Age has been divided into at least five different categories, and organizational tenure and positional tenure both have been divided into at least two different categories.

Researchers have examined individual differences of career stages (i.e., age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) correlated to organizational commitment. These studies have attempted to isolate the independent variables and examine each separately (Allen & Meyer, 1993). Thus, through the development of these constructs, the career stage variables have been correlated in several studies with researchers advocating one over another as an operational definition for career stage (Meyer, et al., 1993; Morrow & McElroy, 1987).

21

Three major perspectives have emerged. In the first perspective, the use of age to define career stages was advocated (D. T. Hall & Nougaim, 1968; T. Hall & Mansfield, 1975; Rabinowitz & Hall, 1981; Rush, et al., 1980; Slocum Jr. & Cron, 1985; Veiga, 1973, 1983). In the second perspective, the use of categorical stages, such as occupational, organizational or positional tenure and/or the combination of tenures, was advocated (Katz, 1978, 1980; Stumpf & Rabinowitz, 1981). In still another perspective, the concept that career stages needed to be inclusive of age and categorical stages was advocated (Allen & Meyer, 1990a; Gould, 1979; Gould & Hawkins, 1978; Morrow & McElroy, 1987).

Age has been the most commonly employed operationalization of career stages and has a more expansive empirical research base upon which to draw (McElroy, et al., 1995; McElroy, et al., 1999; Veiga, 1983). Three post-entry career stages were suggested based on Levinson et al. (1978) four seasons of a man's life – *getting into the world, settling down, becoming one's own man, and midlife transition* – or Super's (1957) theory of career stages – *biosocial life cycles, work/career cycles and family or procreation cycles*. The categorical stages were broad enough to encompass different work experiences but functional with age and psychological concerns (e.g., Rush, et al., 1980; Stumpf & Rabinowitz, 1981). Unfortunately, these perspectives did not always appear to coincide with the reality of a corporate career (Veiga, 1983). International research argued that a contributing factor could have been the workforce has aged and the labor force has declined which has encouraged the older workers to extend years in the workforce (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2006; Vodopivec & Dolenc, 2008). This study has subdivided age into five divisions: < 31 years; 31 - 40 years; 41 - 50 years; 51 - 60 years and > 60 years.

Table 1

Operationalizations of Career Stage

Criterion for defining	Time frames			
career stage	used	Career stage labels	Utilizers and sample	
			Hall & Mansfield, 1975	
Age	20-33	Early career	(Research scientists); ^a	
			Rabinowitz & Hall, 1981	
	34-49	Mid career	(Mixed public sector); ^b	
			Raelin, 1985	
	≥50	Late career	(Professionals) ^c	
			Gould, 1979 (Managers &	
			administrative employees,	
Age	≤30	Trial	public sector): ^d	
			Slocum & Cron. 1985	
	31-44	Stabilization	(Salespeople);	
			Morrow & McElroy, 1987	
	≥45	Maintenance	(Mixed public sector)	
-				
Age	25-29	Establishment	Hall & Nougaim, 1968	
	30-44	Advancement	(Managers, private sector)	
	45-65	Maintenance		
Age	29-37	Corporate learning stage		
	38-55	Corporate maturity	Veiga, 1973, 1983	
	56-64	Preretirement/gold watch	(Managers, private sector)	
_				
Age	20-29	Getting into adult world	Rush, Peacock &	
	30-34	Settling down	Milkovich, 1980 (Mixed	
	35-39	Becoming one's own man	public sector)	
	40-45	Midlife transition	. ,	
Occupational/	≤2	Establishment	Stumpf & Rabinowitz.	
professional tenure	>2 to ≤10	Advancement	1981 (Faculty);	
	>10	Maintenance	Mount, 1984 (Managers)	
-				
Organizational tenure	≤2	Establishment	Gould & Hawkins, 1978	
	>2 to ≤10	Advancement	(Mixed public sector);	
	>10	Maintenance	Morrow & McElroy, 1987	
			Katz. 1978 (Government	
Postional tenure	11 frames	Not labeled	employees)	
Postional tenure	≤2	Orientation		
	>2 to ≤10	Growth	Morrow & McElroy, 1987	
	>10	Plateau		

^a Hall and Mansfield (1975) also report data on age groups of 20-29, 30-39, 40-49 and 50+ ^b Rabinowitz and Hall's (1981) time frames were all one year later. ^c Raelin's (1985) time frames were 25-34, 35-44 and 45-65. Subsequent to his analysis, Raelin labels these "finding a niche," "digging in," and "entrenched." ^d Gould's (1979) trial stage was defined as less than age 30.

Understanding the construct of career stages has been considered important. Morrow and McElroy (1987) noted that until agreement is achieved regarding the conceptualization of career stages, research involving career stages was apt to yield patchwork findings. If this is true, then it is imperative to conduct research which furthers the understanding of career stages.

Controversy over Organizational Commitment and Career Stages

As organizational commitment has emerged as a central concept in studies in which work attitudes, behaviors and career stage variables were examined (Mathieu & Zajac, 1990), the definition of career stages as a moderator has engendered controversy (McElroy, et al., 1999; Meyer, Stanley, Herscovitch, & Topolnytsky, 2002). Several studies have produced divergent results. The nature of the samples studied, the analytical strategies used to test this relationship and/or the tenure and occupational level of the subjects might explain the discrepancies in the findings (Slocum Jr. & Cron, 1985). Still a substantial number of studies has indicated that further analyses were needed (Mathieu & Zajac, 1990).

This controversy to advocate one career stage variable over another as an operational definition for career stage of either age, organizational or positional tenure (Meyer, et al., 1993; Morrow & McElroy, 1987), which resulted from correlation studies, seems to stem from the strength of career stage variables as they relate to organizational commitment (McElroy, et al., 1999).

It has been argued that age has been the best operational definition of career stages; however, some occupations restrict employment entry to a particular age that was two to five years older than other occupations (i.e., firefighters, law enforcement officers, and politicians). Likewise, some of these occupations have the option of retirement or may have a mandatory retirement age prior to normally accepted retirement age (i.e., athletes, fashion models and law enforcement officers).

Based on Levinson's (1978) work of occupational service (i.e., organizational tenure and positional tenure), the divisions have been advocated due to the clarity defined as the four seasons of years of service (i.e., getting into the world, settling down, becoming one's own man and midlife transition). This perspective, however, does not always appear to coincide with the reality of career life or to be relevant to each occupation (Veiga, 1983). Consequently, several researchers have attempted to partition the tenures into thirds rather than quarters (Morrow & McElroy, 1987). The attempt was to pinpoint specific transitional periods that result from age-related biological changes or powerful cultural norms identified as *life crises*. Each career stage may serve as an individual characteristic which can explain differences in the behaviors and attitudes among employees in the organization, such as the employee's age, needs, expectations, abilities and behavior change (Rush, et al., 1980; Stumpf & Rabinowitz, 1981).

According to Meyer and his colleagues (2002), there was an expectation that career stages would be weakly correlated to organizational commitment due to the fact that such variables were expected to be generally low. Given the inconsistency which exists with respect to the operational definition of career stage, it should not be

26
surprising that comparisons across studies were tenuous at best. It has been documented that individuals differ in numerous ways even within the same categorical settings (e.g., their attitudes, beliefs, values and needs) according to their personal interests (Mount, 1984).

Several studies have suggested that affective commitment declined in the first year of employment (Meyer & Allen, 1987a, 1988; Mowday, et al., 1982). Allen and Meyer (1993) speculated that the explanation was that newcomers enter organizations with unrealistic expectations. As they learn about their work, roles and tasks, many experience a *reality shock*, resulting in affective commitment changes. According to the literature, many leave the organization during this early period. Mowday and colleagues (1982) argued that affective commitment developed during this early period set precedent for future work experiences. Affective commitment correlated positively with age and tenure in several studies (Allen & Meyer, 1993; Angle & Lawson, 1993; Meyer, et al., 2002; Morrow & McElroy, 1987; Raelin, 1985). The literature suggested that correlations between age and commitment might exist because of three reasonable explanations: (1) aging predisposed older employees to be more committed to organizations -a maturity explanation; (2) older employees perceived they have experiences that are more positive than younger employees – a *better experience* explanation; or (3) there were generational differences in organizational commitment a cohort explanation (Allen & Meyer, 1993; Morrow & McElroy, 1987; Raelin, 1985).

The relationship between organizational tenure and commitment has been shown to be positive (Allen & Meyer, 1993). It was reasoned that more experienced employees have the more attractive positions in organizations. A much more likely explanation was that over time those less committed employees left the organizations (Meyer & Allen, 1997).

The relationship between positional tenure and commitment has received little attention. Some speculated that employees who remained in the same position for a long period of time were passed over for promotions and had little commitment to their organizations (Allen & Meyer, 1993). This would indicate a need for further study.

A wise researcher proverbially stated, "You cannot put right by statistics what you have wrong by design" (Light, Singer, & Willett, 1990, p. viii). The need for a congruent definition of career stages across research studies is needed. This controversy of career stages as a weak variable to moderate organizational commitment will not dissipate without more research and forethought. This study does not propose to inappropriately or haphazardly determine the particular divisions of career stages. Therefore, great thought in the categorical divisions of career stages has been considered.

The Commitment Scales and Career Stages

Any research on organizational commitment would be incomplete without accounting for the moderating effects of career stage. Several studies exist which depicted stages of life from birth to death (Levinson, et al., 1978; Marsh & Mannari, 1977; Rabinowitz & Hall, 1981; Raelin, 1985; Rush, et al., 1980; Slocum Jr. & Cron, 1985; Veiga, 1983; Wiener & Vardi, 1980). Specific age ranges identified commitments to the organization at major periods of an individual's years of service in each study. This section will review the literature concerning the construction of a measuring instrument of organizational commitment and career stages.

28

Nature of Development

Allen and Meyer (1990a) conceptualized and proposed a model of organizational commitment. The development of their conceptualization of organizational commitment expanded the incorporation of both the attitudinal and behavioral approaches to a committed mindset. The particular approach embraced the concept that the linked relationship between the employee and the organization was a psychological state (i.e., feelings and/or beliefs). This psychological state should not be restricted to value and goal congruence as described by attitudinal and/or behavioral approaches (Mowday, et al., 1982); rather the relationship reflected a desire, need and/or obligation to maintain membership in the organization (Meyer & Allen, 1991).

The *Three-Component Model (TCM)*, considers three commitments – affective, continuance and normative commitment – to be components rather than types of commitment (Meyer & Allen, 1991, 1997). Types implies that the psychological state characterizing the three forms of commitment were mutually exclusive (Meyer & Allen, 1991, pp. 67-68); rather, these three commitment variables were not mutually exclusive but worked together and had common effects on organizational consequences, such as job satisfaction, turnover intentions, organizational citizenship behavior (OCB) and performance (Park & Rainey, 2007).

Allen and Meyer (1990a) indicated that an employee experienced all three forms of commitment to varying degrees which, in turn, influenced behavior. One employee, for example, might feel both a strong desire and a strong need to remain but little obligation to do so, whereas another employee might feel little desire and a moderate need to remain but a strong obligation to do so, etc. The various forms of commitment interaction have influenced different behavioral responses from individual to individual. Figure 1 presents a summary of the hypothesized links between the three-components of commitment and variables considered their antecedents, correlates and consequences.

Figure 1. Three-Component Model (TCM) of Organizational Commitment



From "Affective, Continuance and Normative Commitment to the Organization: A Meta-analysis of Antecedents, Correlates and Consequences," by J. P. Meyer, D. J. Stanley, L. Herscovitch and L. Topolnytsky, 2002, *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *61*, p. 22.

The TCM proposed that employees remained with an organization because of their (1) *desire* to remain (affective commitment), (2) recognition that the *perceived costs* associated with leaving would be high (continuance commitment), and/or (3) feelings of *obligation* to remain (normative commitment). Although an employee could experience all three components to varying degrees, each component was considered to

develop independently and to exert different effects on work behavior (Allen & Meyer, 1993).

Jackson (1970) outlined the scale construction principles the development of the Affective, Continuance and Normative Commitment Scales (ACS, CCS and NCS, respectively) of the TCM was based. ACS and CCS were first used in published research by Meyer and Allen (1984) and NCS, by Allen and Meyer (1990a). Since then, Allen and Meyer as well as others, (e.g., Battistelli, Mariani, & Bello, 2006; Carson & Carson, 2002; Iverson & Buttigieg, 1999; Jaros, Jermier, Koehler, & Sincich, 1993; Johnson & Chang, 2006; Ozag, 2006; Reid, et al., 2008; Stephens, Dawley, & Stephens, 2004; Tsai, et al., 2005) have administered the measures in several studies. These studies have resulted in the accumulation of a considerable amount of evidence regarding the psychometric properties of TCM and the relations to various organizational and personal variables.

The TCM instrument had primarily been focused on the public and corporate sectors. The instrument was developed to assess a longitudinal study of business university graduates who entered the job market (Allen & Meyer, 1990b) and a nursing student's commitment to remain in the nursing program (Meyer, et al., 1991). The instrument has also been used in other fields, such as service professionals (e.g., utility workers, railroad workers, police officers, office personnel and nursing staff), corporate and business (e.g., resource management specialists, office managers, public accountants, factory workers, plant managers and corporate executives) and education (e.g., professors, university students and employees, and nursing students) (David & Matthew, 2008; Deborah & John, 2004; Ed, Carlos Wing-hung, & Tom, 2008; Ed &

31

Tom, 2003; Frederique, Frank, & Leo, 2007; Hackett, Bycio, & Hausdorf, 1994a; Harvir, Irving, & Shirley, 2004; Huo-Tsan, Nai-Wen, & Min-Chih, 2007; Irving, Daniel, & Christine, 1997; Jaros, 1995; John, Srinivas, Jaydeep, & Laryssa, 2007; Jong-Wook, James, & Charles, 1997; Lemaster, 2004; Lynne & John, 2002; Merkies & Van der Meer, 1989; Omar, Woody van, & Robert, 2008; Saadia & Mah Nazir, 2004; Suliman & Iles, 2000; Wells, Fuller, Wright, Fewtrell, & Cole, 2003). These studies have been conducted in several countries, including the United States, Canada, Great Britain, China, Taiwan, India, South Korea and Pakistan.

Evidence of Construct Validity

The TCM was found to be psychometrically sound because of three important research facts. First, the statistical reliability of the measurement was examined. Second, factor analyses of the measurement were examined through both exploratory and confirmatory analyses studies in order to determine whether the TCM measures were distinguishable from related constructs. Finally, the nomological net was examined through the measurement's correlations of previous studies' variables.

Reliability of the measure. Internal consistency of the measures has been estimated using coefficient alpha. Reliabilities associated with each study were shown in Table 2. Median reliabilities, across both versions of the ACS, CCS and NCS were 0.85, 0.78 and 0.74, respectively. All reliability estimates exceed 0.70 with very few exceptions. Correlations between the ACS and OCQ typically exceed 0.80 (e.g., Allen & Meyer, 1990a; Meyer & Allen, 1984; Randall, Fedor, & Longenecker, 1990).

Although most studies using the commitment measures have been crosssectional, some longitudinal data are available. Test-retest reliabilities are shown in Table 3 (Allen & Meyer, 1996). The duration between administrations ranged from seven weeks to 11 months. Allen and Meyer pointed out that in all but one study (Blau, Paul, & St. John, 1993), longitudinal data were collected from organizational newcomers (Allen & Meyer, 1996). The test-retest reliabilities were within the statistical acceptability and were consistent with those reported in the OCQ (Mowday, et al., 1979).

Factor Analytic Results. The factor structure of the three-component measure of organizational commitment has been found to be psychometrically sound. Both exploratory analyses (e.g., Allen & Meyer, 1990a; Blau, et al., 1993; Carson & Carson, 2002; Hackett, Bycio, & Hausdorf, 1994b; McGee & Ford, 1987; Reilly & Orsak, 1991) and confirmatory factor analyses (Duham, Grube, & Castaneda, 1994; Hackett, et al., 1994b; Meyer, et al., 1990; Meyer, et al., 1993; Moorman, Niehoff, & Organ, 1993; Somers, 1993) have shown that ACS, CCS and NCS measured relatively distinct constructs. The findings indicated an unclear determination as to whether or not one of the measures, CCS, represented a unidimensional construct. McGee and Ford (1987), the first to examine the measure, inquired whether or not CCS measures a unitary commitment construct or two separate commitment constructs, one from the employee's recognition that alternatives were few or the other from a recognition that the employee's investments were too great to sacrifice. Hackett, et al. (1994b) found that a four-factor model provided the best fit to the data, supporting Dunham, et al. (1994) findings of a two-dimensional CCS structure rather than a unidimensional model. Across all the studies, there were modest results, and the two factors were agreed to be highly related (Allen & Meyer, 1996).

Table 2

Comm	itment Me	asure ^a	
ACS	CCS	NCS	Reference/sample
0.86	0.81	0.76	Allen & Meyer (1993)
			Allen & Meyer (1990)
0.87	0.75	0.79	Sample 1
0.86	0.82	0.73	Sample 2
0.82	0.81	0.74	Allen & Smith (1987)
-	0.84	-	Aven (1988)
0.75	-	0.76	Battistelli, Mariani & Bello (2006) ^b
			Blau, Paul & John (1993)
0.80	-	-	time 1
0.81	-	-	time 2
0.89	-	-	Carson & Bedeian (1994)
0.89	-	-	Carson & Carson (2002)
0.79	0.69	0.65	Cohen (1993)
			Dunham, Grube & Castaneda (1994)
0.81	0.69	0.74	Finegan (1994)*
0.86	0.72	-	Gellatly (1995)
0.85	-	-	Greenberg (1994)
			Hackett, Bycio & Hausdorf (1994)
0.86	0.79	0.73	Sample 1
0.84	0.75	0.75	Samples 2
0.79	0.81	0.69	Iverson & Buttigieg (1999)
0.94	0.77	-	Jaros, Jermier, Koehler & Sincich (1993)
0.88	0.81	-	Jayne (1994)
0.74	-	-	Jenkins (1993)
0.82	0.87	-	Johnson & Chang (2006)*
0.85	-	-	Kelloway & Barling (1992)
0.89	0.85	-	Konovsky & Cropanzano (1991)
0.86	0.78	0.67	Lee (1992)
0.88	0.81	0.78	Lynn (1992)
0.83	0.84	0.71	McDonald (1993)
0.84	0.75	-	Magazine, Williams & Williams (1996)
0.88	0.70	-	McGee & Ford (1987)
0.82	0.74	0.83	Meyer, Allen & Smith (1993)*

Internal Consistency Reliabilities for the TCM

Comm	itment Me	asure ^a	
ACS	CCS	NCS	Reference/sample
			Meyer, Bobocel & Allen (1991)
0.82	0.82	-	1 month
0.84	0.79	-	6 months
0.77	0.73	-	12 months
			Meyer, Irving & Allen (1998)
			Study 1
0.77	0.71	0.74	6 months
0.83	0.74	0.85	12 months
			Study 2*
0.85	0.69	0.86	6 months
0.85	0.75	0.85	12 months
			Meyer, Irving & Allen (1993)
0.77	0.73	0.68	1 month
0.83	0.74	0.69	6 months
0.85	0.72	0.74	12 months
0.74	0.69	-	Meyer, Paunonen, Gellatly, Goffin & Jackson (1989)
0.85	0.71	-	Moorman, Niehoff & Organ (1993)
0.85	-	0.68	Morrison (1994)
0.88	0.83	0.52	Randall, Fedor & Longenecker (1990)
0.84	0.80	0.76	Reilly & Orsak (1991)
0.90	0.83	-	Shore & Tetrick (1991)
0.81	0.74	0.71	Somers (1993)
0.68	-	0.75	Stephens, Dawley & Stephens (2004)
			Vandenberg & Self (1993)
0.76	0.75	-	1 day
0.86	0.83	-	3 months
0.89	0.79	-	6 months
-	0.83	-	Wahn (1993)
0.86	0.81	-	Whitener & Walz (1993)
0.89	0.76	-	Withey (1988)
0.85	0.88	0.79	Yousef (2000)

Note: ACS, Affecitive Commitment Scale; CCS, Continuance Commitment Scales; NCS, Normative Commitment Scale.

^a The four studies indicated with an asterisk (*) used the six-item versions of the commitment scales. All others used the original eight-item scales.

^b Research conducted by Battistelli, Mariani & Bello (2006) used five items of the ACS and four items of the NCS.

Table 3

	Reliabilities		ies		
Measure	rt_1t_2	rt_1t_3	rt ₂ t ₃	Timing of measures	Reference
				7 weeks apart	
ACS	0.94			(average tenure $= 5.5$	Blau, Paul & John (1993)
				years)	
105	0.68	0.62	0.78	1, 6 and 11 months	Mayar Bohocal & Allan (1991)
ACJ	0.00	0.02	0.78	post-entry	Meyer, Bobbeer & Allen (1991)
CCS	0.71	0.63	0.72		
105	0.66	0.61	0.72	1, 6 and 12 months	Mover Inving & Allen (1903)
ACS	0.00	0.01	0.75	post-entry	Nicyci, ii ving & Alch (1995)
CCS	0.56	0.58	0.67		
NCS	0.61	0.62	0.73		
ACS	0.48	0.38	0.77	1 day and 3 and 6 months post-entry	Vandenberg & Self (1993)
CCS	0.44	0.44	0.63		

Test-Retest Reliabilities for Commitment Measures

Note. From "Affective, Continuance and Normative Commitment to the Organization: An Examination of Construct Validity," by N. J. Allen and J. P. Meyer, 1996, *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 49*(3), p. 258.

Three specific criterions determined the original selection of the items for inclusion on the final scales. Items were eliminated if (a) the endorsement proportion was greater than 0.75 on the seven-point Likert scale, (b) the item correlated less with its keyed scale than with one or both of the other scales, and (c) the content of the item was redundant with respect to other items on the scale. Eight items were then selected for inclusion in each scale. The 24 items comprising the TCM were subjected to the principal factor method of factor analysis. Three factors, accounting for 58.8%, 25.8%

and 15.4% of the total variance, respectively, were extracted and rotated to a Varimax criterion (See Table 4).

A revised version of the TCM was developed in 1993 (Meyer, et al., 1993). The difference between the two versions was noticed in NCS measurement of the employees' feeling of obligation to remain with the organization. Allen and Meyer pointed out that this obligation can arise from two primary sources: (a) socialization experiences and (b) receipt of "benefits" from the organization that requires reciprocation from the employee. In the original NCS, the items included information about the basis for the obligation, whereas in the revised version, the items focused on the feeling of obligation without specifying the basis. This study used the original version of the TCM.

Correlations between the Commitment and Other Variables. Allen and Meyer (1996; Meyer & Allen, 1991) examined patterns of findings across studies then reported a nomological net (Cronbach & Maeehl, 1955) used to evaluate the construct validity of the commitment measures. This was due in part because too few studies were reporting correlations between the commitment scales and many of the antecedent, correlate or consequence variables to justify the application of a meta-analysis. Since then a meta-analysis study of the three-component model of commitment has been conducted (e.g., Meyer, et al., 2002).

Allen and Meyer (1996; Meyer & Allen, 1997) reported patterns of correlations between measures of the variables included in the model. Specifically, the patterns of correlations of the three-component model of commitment: (1) exhibited strong relations between OCQ and the ACS that were consistent with expectation and provided evidence for convergent validity, (2) the ACS correlated to measures which reflected affective reactions to other foci (e.g., job satisfaction, job involvement and career commitment), (3) the CCS and NCS had weak correlation, as expected, to other attitudinal measures; and (4) the ACS was positively correlated to positive affect and negatively correlated to negative affect, as expected, after examination of commitment and dispositional affect.

Allen and Meyer (1996; Meyer & Allen, 1997) identified a few issues that required further attention. First, further investigation was warranted concerning the strength of relation between the components of commitment, specifically between affective and normative commitment. Second, further investigation was needed concerning the dimensionality of the CCS. Third, further study was needed to examine the generalization of the model outside North America.

The meta-analysis study, however, examined the true correlations between the constructs, which undergirded the measures. Meyer, et al., (2002) reported that the corrected correlation¹ between affective and normative commitment was substantial ($\rho = .63$)², suggesting considerable overlap in the two constructs. In separate analyses for the revised (Meyer, et al., 1993) and the original version (Allen & Meyer, 1990a) of the commitment scales, a considerably larger correlation was found for the revised version measure ($\rho = .77$) than for the original version measure ($\rho = .54$).

¹ Percentage of *SD*_o accounted for by sampling error is more than 60%.

² Confidence interval constructed around the uncorrected *N*-weighted mean correlation does not include zero.

Table 4

Y UT ITTUA NOTATEU I UCIOT MUITA DUSEU ON THE I CM COTTEUN	Var	rimax	Rotated	Factor	Matrix	Based	on the	TCM	Correlatio
--	-----	-------	---------	--------	--------	-------	--------	-----	------------

		11101115		
	Affective Commitment Scale items			
1.	I would be very happy to spend the rest of my career			
	with this organization	.55	.47	07
2.	I enjoy discussing my organization with people outside			
	it	.56	.10	07
3.	I really feel as if this organization's problems are my			
	own	.52	.39	06
4.	I think that I could easily become as attached to			
	another organization as I am to this one (R)	.45	.21	.18
5.	I do not feel like "part of the family" at my			
	organization (R)	.63	.15	04
6.	I do not feel "emotionally attached" to this			
	organization (R)	<u>.81</u>	.23	.03
7.	This organization has a great deal of personal meaning			
	for me	<u>.79</u>	.19	.02
8.	I do not feel a strong sense of belonging to my			
	organization (R)	.82	.18	05
	Continuanos Commitment Soals items			
5	Low not a froid of what might hann on if I guit good in the		-	-
1.	i ani not analo of what might happen if I quit my job	10	02	20
5	Without having another one lined up (K)	10	.02	.39
۷.	right new even if I wanted to	22	14	50
2	ngni now, even ii i wanted to	.22	.14	.38
3.	roo much in my me would be disrupted if I decided I	22	27	A A
4	wanted to leave my organization now	.33	.27	<u>.44</u>
4.	it wouldn't be too costly for me to leave my	10	10	AC
5	Diganization now (K)	.18	.12	<u>.40</u>
3.	Night now, staying with my organization is a matter of	24	01	20
6	Increasing as much as desire	24	01	.39
0.	this organization	1 /	00	67
7	uns organization	14	.00	.07
1.	organization would be the sourcity of available			
	alternatives	17	07	60
0	One of the major reasons I continue to work for this	1/	07	.00
ð.	one of the major reasons i continue to work for this			
	organization is that leaving would require considerable			
	personal sacrifice - another organization may not			
	match the overall benefits I have here	15	01	50
		.13	01	<u>.30</u>
1				

		Factor 1	Factor 2	Factor 3
	Normative Commitment Scale items			
1.	I think that people these days move from company		·	
	to company too often.	.14	.67	06
2.	I do not believe that a person must always be loyal			
	to his or her organization (R)	.29	.43	.00
3.	Jumping from organization to organization does not			
	seem at all unethical to me (R)	.07	.63	.01
4.	One of the major reasons I continue to work for		·	
	this organization is that I believe that loyalty is			
	important and therefore feel a sense of moral			
	obligation to remain	.17	.59	.07
5.	If I got another offer for a better job elsewhere I	-		
	would not feel it was right to leave my organization			
		.17	<u>.49</u>	.10
6.	I was taught to believe in the value of remaining			
	loyal to one organization	.15	<u>.49</u>	.10
7.	Things were better in the days when people stayed	r		
	with one organization for most of their careers			
		.05	.56	.11
8.	I do not think that wanting to be a "company man"			
	or "company woman" is sensible anymore (R)			
		.17	<u>.47</u>	03
	Percent of variance accounted for	58.8	25.8	15.4
	<i>Note.</i> (R) = reverse keyed items.			

Modest correlations were found between continuance commitment, measured using the full scale CCS, and both affective ($\rho = .05$) and normative ($\rho = .18$) commitments. The correlations between affective commitment and the alternatives ($\rho = -.24$) and sacrifice ($\rho = .06$) subcomponents of continuance commitment were low and opposite in sign, as expected. Normative commitment found the same with the exception of strength and was greater for the sacrifice component ($\rho = .16$) than for the alternatives component ($\rho = .02$). Separate analyses for studies conducted within versus outside North America found a higher correlation outside ($\rho = .69$) than within ($\rho = .59$) North America. Meyer and colleagues (2002) reported there were too few studies available to make systematic comparisons across cultures. The study pointed out that geographic location and language were largely confounded due to translation. It was revealed that 72% of the studies conducted outside of North America used translated versions of the scales. As Allen and Meyer (2000) pointed out in another publication, differences observed could reflect cultural differences and/or translation problems.

Meyer and et al. (2002) compared computed correlations with commitment measured using the OCQ (Mowday, et al., 1979), which revealed a high correlation using ACS ($\rho = .88$). This also revealed, correlations with normative commitment ($\rho =$.50) and continuance commitment ($\rho = -.02$) were comparable to those for affective commitment using the ACS.

The results of the meta-analysis by Meyer, et al. (2002) provided estimates of the true relations between the components of commitment and variables identified as antecedents, correlates and consequences in the three-component model. Strong correlations were found between affective commitment and correlate variables (i.e., job satisfaction, job involvement and occupational commitment). The strongest correlation reported was between affective commitment and overall job satisfaction. However, correlations between affective commitment and satisfaction with other specific factors of employment were revealed as weaker. Studies showed that job satisfaction and affective commitment should be considered in efforts to understand an employee's behavior (Meyer, et al., 1993). As well, there was a strong positive correlation between

41

affective commitment and occupational commitment, which suggested practical implications of organization-relevant outcome (i.e., retention and OCB) were plausible (Meyer, et al., 1993).

The meta-analysis found that antecedents such as demographic variables contribute very little in the development of organizational commitment, as Mathieu and Zajac's (1990) study revealed. Correlations with the demographic variables were generally low. Meyer, et al. (2002) reported that age and tenure (organization and position) correlated positively with all three components of commitment. In contrast, work experiences were found to have stronger relations, especially with affective commitment.

In regard to the consequences of commitment, Meyer, et al. (2002) reported that all three components correlated negatively with withdrawal cognition, turnover intention and turnover, but each correlated differently with other work behaviors (i.e., attendance, job performance and OCB). The meta-analysis revealed that affective commitment had the strongest positive correlation with these desirable work behaviors; whereas, continuance commitment was unrelated or negatively related to these behaviors.

New Population for Organizational Commitment

Literature suggested that organizational culture encompassed institutional values, beliefs, assumptions, perceptions, meanings, behavioral norms, artifacts, symbols and patterns of behavior (Ott, 1989; Rector, 2005; Tierney, 1999, 2001), which were processed in an organization through the daily workings of the organization's participants and had undergone constant re-interpretation recreating the organizational

culture as unique (Rector, 2005; Tierney, 1999). Some have argued that the aspects of organizational culture which make an organization unique were present in higher education as well (Clark, 1997; Rhodes & Trevor, 2000).

Studies in organizational commitment in higher education in the United States have been limited to university students (Allen & Meyer, 1990b; Meyer & Allen, 1984; Meyer, et al., 1991), faculty (Lemaster, 2004) and executives (Britt, 2002). There is no or very little literature beyond these populations in higher education.

Meyer and Allen (1984) studied university students to determine their level of commitment to remain through the academia program. Their findings were that students had an affective attachment to the object of their commitment rather than a continuance commitment. Contrary to Becker (1960) who suggested that individuals become committed due to the costs of disassociation associated with continuance commitment, Meyer and Allen found that students correlated more strongly to affective commitment measures than with continuance commitment measures. Thus, this study established the fundamental development of the TCM.

Several researchers used TCM to investigate the relationship of institutional culture and commitment. For example, Lemaster (2004) implemented the TCM as an instrument to measure the cultural impact of faculty in selected Christian colleges and universities in South California. In these studies, Lemaster suggested that Christian college and university settings foster the development of affective and normative commitment, while an individual culture may have a stronger influence on continuance commitment within the subculture.

Regarding leadership positions in higher education, Britt (2002) studied the organizational commitment of higher education executives (e.g., Chancellors, Presidents, Provosts, Vice-Presidents, Deans, Executive Directors, College Officers, etc.) as well as women who advanced in these positions. This study was useful because, as Britt suggested, if individuals are able to manage their own careers, they will be a continued commitment to the organization and will not leave regardless of the gender. Affective, continuance and normative commitment were each significant and influenced the leaders' advancement in their positions.

The above studies indicated that TCM has been useful in examining commitment levels in a variety of higher education positions. However, the literature also revealed an absence of research in other important higher education positions. For instance, the position of presidential assistant has been considered as one of the most influential positions in a university, yet no research has been conducted on the commitment levels of presidential assistants.

Presidential Assistant Position

The position of a college or university president was argued as one of the toughest as well as one of the most important jobs in higher education (Fisher, Tack, & Wheeler, 1988). Literature suggested that every president needed a reliable sounding board – someone who was trustworthy and confident in the designated position and to whom the president can express roughly formed versions of thoughts and ideas. This individual must have the ability to express himself or herself with complete honesty when responding to the president's inquiries (Fisher, 1985; Giddens, 1971; Lingenfelter, 2004).

Considered as a second set of eyes and ears on campus presidential assistants aid the president to understand every aspect of the institution's challenging issues (Malloy, 2003). Some posit that the presidential assistant has been the most important staff member in a higher education institution (Fisher, 1985; Fisher & Koch, 1996; Giddens, 1971; Lingenfelter, 2004; Montell, 2000; Richman & Farmer, 1974). McDade, Putnam & Miles (1999) reported that presidents believed the position of the presidential assistant was a leadership role, even though no two positions were alike, and each had a specific set of responsibilities that varied between institutions. The most effective and efficient assistants performed every imaginable task, ranging from the most menial to the most skilled, such as running errands, opening doors, chauffeuring and entertaining important guests of the president, serving as ambassador of the president and acting as a vice president without a portfolio (Fisher & Koch, 1996).

Historical development. Prior to the Civil War, most colleges and universities in the United States had an average of three administrative positions: the president, a treasurer, and a librarian, which was a voluntary position (O'Reilly Jr., 2000; Rudolph, 1990). In 1860, the median number of administrative officers in United States colleges was four, compared to the 30.5 college administrative officers in 1933 (McGrath, 1938).

As the higher education institution matured, more administrative responsibilities became specialized. The offices that emerged beyond the president and faculty were the registrar, a vice president, deans, chief business officer, director of admissions and several administrative assistants to the president (Rudolph, 1990).

One of the first recorded positions of assistant to the president was in Oberlin College. The annual reports of the president and treasurer from Oberlin College record the creation of the position on November 16, 1904. The trustee board elected Charles W. Williams to the position. The primary tasks of the assistant were fund raising and public relations (as cited in Giddens, 1971).

Over time, administrative offices have splintered from the form in which they first appeared in the Office of the President. They emerged as a multifunctional title in a department all to themselves (e.g., President, Chancellor, University Chief Executive Officer, President of the University System, etc.). The president's executive assistant was not an exception to this splintering, as that office was subdivided. Titles such as assistant to the president for planning, public relations or even community relations commonly appear in colleges and universities today (O'Reilly Jr., 2000). As the titles have increased, so have the numbers in the position.

By the academic year of 1969, there were at least 225 presidential assistants recorded. Giddens' (1971) study presented a demographic composite picture of the typical presidential assistant as a white male, 39.9 years of age, with an earned bachelors or masters degree, and with previous administrative and teaching experience in the college. The presidential assistant was predominantly employed by public higher education institutions in the liberal arts and professional studies with enrollments from 2,000 to 4,999 students. The annual salary exceeded \$15,000. However, among these presidential assistants, there were no two job descriptions identical nor were the assistants afforded faculty tenure.

In 1978, a study by the Office of Communications Services of the National Association of State Universities and Land-Grant Colleges (NASULGC) reported that women held 2,905 of the 13,638 positions in 106 major public universities. The study found there were 428 presidential assistants, of which 131 positions were held by women (30.6%) and 297 by men (69.4%).

Quatroche's (1990) study revealed the Office of the President employed one assistant and three to four clerical staff personnel, a shift in the composite picture of assistants depicted in the Giddens' study. The analysis of Quatroche's data (response rate of 70%, N = 650) showed that the typical presidential assistant was white and between the ages of 40 and 49 and had served in the present position full time between two and five years and that the positions were evenly divided between the genders. The data also revealed that some presidential assistants had worked in higher education for over 16 years and earned an average annual salary of \$40,000. In addition, the presidential assistant held multiple titles with numerous roles and responsibilities.

Carlson (1991) studied New England college presidential assistants based on selected personal, educational and institutional characteristics. Carlson's analysis showed the typical New England college presidential assistant was between 40 and 49 years of age (35%), white (100%), female (54%) and well educated (79% holding at least a master's degree and 41% holding a doctoral degree). Carlson also reported that the New England presidential assistant worked at a four-year (95%) private university (57%).

Another finding Carlson(1991) reported that the annual salary of presidential assistants in New England to be \$40,000 to 50,000 (24%), \$50,000 to \$60,000 (22%), \$60,000 to \$70,000 (16%), and greater than \$70,000 (11%). Whereas, O'Reilly (2000) reported that the annual salary of presidential assistants in specialized institutions to be less than \$20,000 (2.5%), \$20,000 to \$39.999 (22.5%), \$40,000 to \$49,999 (10.0%),

47

\$50,000 to \$59,999 (20.0%), \$60,000 to \$69,999 (15.0%), \$70,000 to \$89,999 (17.5%), and more than \$90,000 (12.5%).

A national survey built on the Quatroche (1990) study was developed (McDade, et al., 1996) and commissioned by the National Association of Presidential Assistants in Higher Education (NAPAHE), and then was later used in dissertations by Miles (2000)³ and O'Reilly (2000)⁴. McDade, Putnam & Miles' (1999) study was the first attempt to identify all presidential assistants at all colleges and universities with the exception of specialty institutions. The study yielded a 50% response rate (941 respondents to 1,882 usable addresses). The study resulted in a final response of 801 presidential assistants after 140 responses were eliminated due to self-describing their position as secretarial.

The composite picture of the participants revealed that the presidential assistant was a white (85.7%, n = 617, N = 723) female (67.1%, n = 485, N = 723) with a master (26.3%, n = 187, N = 711) or doctoral degree (24.9%, n = 177, N = 711), employed at a public institution (61.0%, n = 443, N = 726) with an enrollment from 1,000 to 4,999 full time enrollment (44.4%, n = 320, N = 720) (Miles, 2000). These results somewhat changed the previously seen composite picture of presidential assistants.

The study reported other descriptive data that was of interest. For example, the percentage of participants (N = 726) from private institutions (39.3%, n = 283) were subdivided into private/independent (20.8%, n = 151) and private/religious (18.2%,

³ Miles used the survey (McDade, et al., 1996) data collected (McDade, et al., 1999) under the sponsorship of Sharon McDade to examine primary career paths of presidential assistants.

⁴ O'Reilly used the survey instrument (McDade, et al., 1996) as a subsequent study of presidential assistants at specialized higher education institutions.

n = 132). The male presidential assistants (32.9%, n = 238, N = 723) comprised about one third of the study population. The percentages of respondents that were not white comprised of 9.6% African American/Black (n = 69, N = 720) and 4.7% the combined group of Hispanic/Latino, American Indians/Native Alaskans, Asian/Pacific Islanders and Multiracial (n = 34, N = 720). The study also revealed that salaries were dependent upon roles, responsibilities and multi-titled positions. Three levels of the position these presidential assistants (N = 738) held were categorized as senior management (52.7%, n = 389), professional (33.1%, n = 244) and middle management (14.2%, n = 105). Some presidential assistants held faculty status, and most were considered senior management, with a significant difference in the number of positions held with relation to gender (45% male and 34% female).

O'Reilly's (2000) dissertation study examined presidential assistants at specialized institutions using the McDade, Putnam and Miles (1996) survey instrument. The study focused on institutions that were classified as specialized institutions by the Carnegie Classification Codes of 1994, colleges or universities in the United States that are degree granting and accredited by an agency recognized by the U.S. Secretary of Education. These institutions offered at least 50% of available degrees in a single discipline, ranging from the bachelor degree to the doctoral degree. These specialized institutions included theological seminaries, health profession schools, schools of business and management, schools of art, music and design, law schools, teachers colleges, tribal colleges and universities and other specialized institutions of graduate centers, maritime academies, military institutions and institutions that do not fit any other classification category.

O'Reilly's study yielded a sample of 40 respondents and a random sample of 10 non-respondents from a telephone survey. The composite picture from this small study revealed that the typical presidential assistant (N = 50) at specialized higher education institutions was white (80%, n=32), middle-aged (46-55 years, 42%) and female (66%, n=33), holding a master degree (33.3%, n=13). The assistant was typically employed at a master and/or doctoral degree granting (72%, n=36), specialized private/independent institution (64%, 32), with an enrollment of less than 499 students (34%, n=17).

Path to the Position. Miles' (2000) dissertation study used the data collected by McDade, Putnam & Miles' (1999) study under the direction of Professor Sharon A. McDade at Columbia University Teachers College and examined the primary career path that presidential assistants took to reach their position. The most commonly held primary career path to the position of presidential assistant in higher education through Miles' study consisted of four positions – beginning from an outside higher education secretarial/clerical position (n = 4, 0.5%) to a higher education secretarial/clerical position (n = 4, 0.5%) to a higher education secretarial/clerical position (n = 27, 3.6%) to becoming a presidential assistant (n = 738). Selecting the career path that had the highest percentage of individuals who held a first prior position in common, then a second prior position and then a third prior position was established as the primary career path. Cohen and March (1974) established this trajectory of normative career in their study of higher education presidential assistants' career paths.

Different trajectory paths to the presidential assistant position were taken according to gender. Females held true to the principal career path which moved from a secretarial/clerical position outside of higher education (n = 4, 0.8%) to a secretarial/clerical position within higher education (n = 26, 5.4%) to associate director/assistant director/professional staff (n = 121, 24.9%) to a presidential assistant (n = 485). However, males began as a K-12 teacher (n = 4, 1.7%) then moved to an associate director/assistant director/professional staff position (n = 22, 9.2%) to a non-academic dean or director post (n = 57, 23.9%) until employed as a presidential assistant (n = 238).

There was no significant difference between whites and blacks in the principal career path; however, both differed greatly from the combined group of Hispanic/Latinos, Asian/Pacific Islanders, or American Indian/Alaskan Natives and Multiracial individuals. As well, those with doctoral degrees differed significantly from those without doctoral degrees. Those with doctoral degrees moved from positions within academia, while those without doctoral degrees came from outside higher education (Miles, 2000).

Tenures of Presidential Assistants. Carlson (1991) examined the tenures of presidential assistant in higher education in higher education, specifically, the tenure in higher education and the tenure in current position. Carlson reported that presidential assistants (N = 42) were employed in the higher education 0 to 2 years (3%), 2 to 5 years (3%), 5 to 8 years (14%), 8 to 12 years (16%), 12 to 16 years (22%), over 16 years (38%). The positional tenure of the reported presidential assistants were 0 to 2 years (16%), 2 to 5 years (35%), 5 to 8 years (14%), 8 to 12 years (14%), 8 to 12 year (27%), 12 to 16 years (5%) and over 16 years (3%).

O'Reilly (2000) reported contrasting figures for presidential assistants (N = 50) which were employed in specialized institutions. Presidential assistants that were

employed in their current position 0 to 2 years (28%), 3 to 5 years (20%), 6 to 8 years (16%), 9 to 11 years (18%), 12 to 15 years (12%), over 16 years (6%). These reflections could have been due to the newly developed position of presidential assistant in specialized institutions.

Personality Types of Presidential Assistants. Personality has been argued the characteristic patterns of an individual's thought, attitude, emotion and behavior that which are exhibited in a social setting (Funder, 1999, 2004). Saucier and Simonds (2006) believed that personality influences the role individuals assume or the status they had achieved in society, which included their outward appearance and reactions to other individuals, defended as "social stimulus value" (MacKinnon, 1944). Researchers have attempted to measure personality through which have narrowed the topical field to personality temperaments (Buss & Plomin, 1975; Feldman-Summers & Kiesler, 1974; Goldberg, 1981; Goldberg & Digman, 1994; Jackson, 1970; Jung, 1959; Locke, 1967; Marvin, 1972; Matzler & Renzl, 2007; I. B. Myers, 1956; Ones, Mount, Barrick, & Hunter, 1994; Rothbart & Bates, 1998). One of the most popular and influential measurement was the personality preference type developed by Isabel Myers (I. B. Myers, 1956) and further developed into the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (MBTI) (I. B. Myers, 1998; I. B. Myers & McCaulley, 1985; I. B. Myers, McCaulley, Quenk, & Hammer, 1994, 1998, 2003; K. D. Myers & Kirby, 1994).

The personality preferences type indicator developed by Myers-Briggs described a 16 dynamic energy system symbolized by four-letters (e.g. ESTJ, INFP) which identified the poles preferred by each individual. The system was based on the conceptual idea of typologies (e.g. sensing, intuiting, thinking or feeling) by Swiss psychiatrist Carl G. Jung (1959). Briggs found Jung's work fascinating, and believed in the power of Jung's typologies, applied the concepts to an instrument to assist women entering the workforce for specific duties in employment during World War II. (I. B. Myers, 1956, 1998; I. B. Myers & McCaulley, 1985; I. B. Myers, et al., 1994, 1998, 2003; K. D. Myers & Kirby, 1994).

The measurement employed Jung's concept of four functions that individuals use to process their surroundings and situations. These basic functions, or process, were called Sensing (S), Intuition (N), Thinking (T) and Feeling (F). There were four attitudes or orientations that individuals exercised to cope with surroundings and situations. These were subdivided into the kinds of energy (i.e., Extraverted (E) and Introverted (I) attitudes) and orientations (i.e., Judging (J) and Perceiving (P) attitudes) the individual exercised. The combination of each function with each energy and attitude developed into four dichotomies and 16 different *types* (K. D. Myers & Kirby, 1994). Practical insights were discovered through observation of these types in research.

Two studies on presidential assistants had examined personality preference types through the Myers-Briggs Typology (McDade, et al., 1999; O'Reilly Jr., 2000). There were mixed results between the two studies, which the personality preference type presidential assistants exhibited. McDade, et al. (1999) reported that the Myers/Briggs Topology scores of presidential assistants (N = 801) were predominately an extravert (60.0%) as opposed to an introvert (40.0%), more a sensor (60.0%) as opposed to an intuitive (40.0%), more a thinker (59.0%) as opposed to a feeler (41.0%), and more a judger (61.0%) as opposed to a perceiver (39.0%). O'Reilly (2000) reported that personality preferences of presidential assistant (N = 50) in specialized institutions were more an extravert (62.5%) than an introvert (37.5%), more an intuitive (75.0%) than a sensor (25.0%), equal between a thinker (50.0%) and a feeler (50.0%), and more a judger (64.3%) than a perceiver (35.7%).

Roles and responsibilities. Literature showed that the presidential assistant job description varied from institution to institution. According to McDade, *et al.* (1999), the most common tasks among presidential assistants were:

- Preparing and overseeing office budget (49%)
- Coordinating special projects (42%)
- Overseeing office administration (41%)
- Preparing social correspondence (39%)
- Interacting with the governing board (36%)
- Preparing external academic correspondence (31%)
- Coordinating policy with senior officers (29%)
- Establishing agendas and policy (28%)
- Overseeing grievances from students, faculty and staff (21%)
- Writing and editing speeches (21%)

Position and Power.

The assistant must work behind the scenes and in the shadow of the president (Carlson, 1991; Gilmour, 1995). The presidential assistant was also the final gatekeeper to the college president. The power to limit access to the president empowers the presidential assistant, but it has been argued that this power must be exercised with extreme caution (Carlson, 1991; Fisher, 1984; Fisher & Koch, 1996; Fisher & Tack,

1988; Fisher, et al., 1988; Gilmour, 1995; O'Reilly Jr., 2000). Carlson noted that a presidential assistant's "proximity to the president confers power where none has actually been delegated" (Carlson, 1991, p. 97). The power conferred to a presidential assistant had depended upon the leader, their style of leadership and their power in leading (Fisher, 1984).

Most theorists agreed that leadership influences, however, the type of influence tremendously differed (French Jr. & Raven, 1959; McLaughlin, 2004; Rottweiler, 2005; Smith, Carson, & Alexander, 1984). For some, leadership influence was the behavior of a leader as defined by the boundaries of an individual's given office, position, title or rank (e.g., Fisher, 1984; Fisher & Tack, 1988; McLaughlin, 2004; Ogawa & Bossert, 2000; Vaughan, 1990). Yet others believed it was the result of leadership thrust upon the individual to which he or she had no alternative but to become successful (e.g., Boapimp, 1983; C. Caldwell & Hayes, 2007; Dale & Fox, 2008; Jacobs, 1972). For the most part, leadership consisted of attributes or characteristics held by the individual to perform unique transactions for the group. Literature suggested that a source of power accompanied these characteristics, whether specified or implied, and that the culture and symbolism judged whether the influence of a leader was strong or weak (Clark, 1997; Dahl, 1997; Rottweiler, 2005).

Concerning transition, turnover and migration of college university presidents, Moore and Burrows (2001) indicated that the rate of turnover of the highest position on campus was increasingly alarming. It was reported that the average length of presidential longevity was between five and eight years (ACE, 2007; AGB Task Force, 2006; M. D. Cohen & March, 1974, 1997; Corrigan, 2002; Green, Ross, & Holmstrom, 1988), which challenged the once-held belief that the post was for life (A. M. Cohen, 1998; Gray, 1998; Ikenberry, 1998). In other words, the number of years presidents served as the leader of a single institution was less than the number of years required for an assistant professor to earn academic tenure (Korschgen, Fuller, & Gardner, 2001). The power and influence then thrust upon the office of the president during this transitional period, specifically the presidential assistant, has been exemplary of such power (Martin, Samuels, & Associates, 2004).

Several studies on presidential transition have contributed to the broader picture of how presidential transitions reshaped institutions through organizational change (e.g., ACE, 2007; AGB Task Force, 2006; Alton & Dean, 2002; M. D. Cohen & March, 1974; Corrigan, 2002; Green, et al., 1988; Martin & Samuels, 2004; Martin, et al., 2004; Moore & Burrows, 2001; Padilla, 2004; Wilson, 2000). However, there was little discovery of how the presidential transition affected the president's office, in particular, those with whom the president entrusted great loyalty and confidentiality and who remained to serve the new president.

The need to study this population is crucial. McDade, Putnam & Miles (1999) found that presidents consider their presidential assistants to be leaders, not managers. This empowerment of a leadership role in higher education was dependent upon the line authority and was different from institution to institution and from president to president (Lingenfelter, 2004). The ability for a president to determine the commitment level of an assistant would be beneficial in maintaining an effective workplace in the highest office in the university – the president's office.

Summary

In this chapter, literature was reviewed concerning an overview of the nature of organizational commitment and career stages, the construct over career stages and organizational commitment, and the controversy of career stage. Allen and Meyer (1993) stated that "the way the career stage variable was operationalized influences the observed effects" of organizational commitment (p. 51). If this is true, then it is important to conduct further research in order to advance the understanding of the influences of career stage variables on organizational commitment.

Literature also was reviewed concerning the organizational commitment construct of Allen and Meyer's *TCM Employee Commitment Survey* (Meyer & Allen, 1991). The nature of development of the TCM and evidence of construct validity were discussed. The examined literature revealed that the measures were developed based on theoretical frameworks from integrated views of attitudinal and behavioral commitment and were used in a wide variety of samples and settings.

The gap for which TCM has been applied as the instrument of assessment in higher education was reviewed and the lack of literature of organizational commitment in higher education was discussed. A need to examine presidential assistants' organizational commitment was presented.

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY

Research Design

The purpose of this study was to examine the three-components of organizational commitment (affective, continuance and normative) relative to the career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) of both public and private college and university presidential assistants regardless of their ages and levels of organizational tenure and positional tenure. The Three-Component Model (TCM) of commitment (Allen & Meyer, 1990a; Meyer & Allen, 1991, 1997) measured the organizational commitment of these presidential assistants. The following questions and hypotheses guided this research.

Research Questions

This study focused on the following research questions:

- Is there a relationship between career stages and the three-components of commitment of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States?
- 2. Do career stages predict the commitment of presidential assistants to stay employed with their current institutions?

Hypothesis

The following null hypotheses (Ho) guided this study:

- Ho1: There is no significant relationship between career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) and three-component commitment levels
 (affective, continuance and normative commitments) of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States.
- Ho2: Career stages do not significantly predict the commitment of college and university presidential assistants to stay employed with their current institution.

The population informed this study through an online survey by the TCM instrument and statistical analysis (i.e., correlation and multiple regression) were methodologically conducted.

Population, Participants and Sample

The target population for this study was all of the presidential assistants from both public and private, four-year degree-granting higher education institutions in the United States. The following were used to compile a listing of presidential assistants.

- 1. National Association of Presidential Assistants in Higher Education (NAPAHE) Directory (2007).
- 2. College Board College Handbook 2007 (2007).
- 3. 2008 Higher Education Directory (2008).
- 4. Digital Higher Education Directory (2008).
- 5. Websites of the colleges and universities listed by the Carnegie Classification.

A list of telephone and electronic mail (email) contacts of 1,423 presidential assistants was compiled. Data collection was accomplished through an electronic invitation letter to an online survey instrument.

The sample of this study was defined as those participants who voluntarily completed the online survey and who met the criteria as previously defined. Data collection from the sample included institution profile, namely the Carnegie Classification of size and setting for the participant's institution. A jump link was provided within the survey,

<u>http://www.carnegiefoundation.org/classifications/index.asp?key=782</u> produced a popup window in order for the participants to confirm their institution's size and setting classification.

Data Collection

This study was conducted according to the strict guidelines of the Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board (IRB) pursuant to the Federal regulations Title 45 Code of Federal Regulations Part 46 (45 CFR 46 "Basic HHS Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects"). The proposed study was submitted to the Office of University Research Compliance in accordance to the accepted *IRB Guidelines*. A letter of approval for this study from the IRB has been added as an addendum (Appendix A). *Process*

An email invitation that introduced and encouraged presidential assistants to participate in the online survey was sent to the complied list of presidential assistants. A brief description of the study, a Web link,

<u>http://frontpage.okstate.edu/coe/shawnbassham</u>, to the online survey, and research compliance information (Appendix B-1) were provided in the invitation. The survey questions were clear and concise and the designed format was unambiguous and consistent as recommended by literature (Dillman, 2000, 2007; Ritter & Sue, 2007a, 2007b).

One week after the introductory email was sent, a second email encouraging participation in the survey was sent. This email reminded them that an online survey was being conducted and their participation was appreciated (Appendix B-2). A copy of this message was posted on the NAPAHE listserv at

NAPANET@LISTSERV.IUPUI.EDU with the approval of the listserv coordinator.

The online survey was posted for five weeks, and then a final email notice announced the deadline of the online survey on the Monday prior to the closure of the online survey (Appendix B-3).

Instrumentation

Participants were directed to an index page, which gave an introduction and informed them of the voluntary nature of the survey. Those who agreed to complete the survey consciously decided to do so by choosing a hyperlink to the survey instrument from the index page (Appendix C). However, those individuals who declined to take the survey were directed to a declination page by a hyperlink. Those participants who successfully submitted their responses after completing the survey were directed to a confirmation page that expressed the researcher's appreciation.

Organizational Commitment. The online survey, patterned after Dillman (2007), was used to collect data from participants. The online instrument used the *TCM Employee Commitment Survey* (Appendix D) by licensed agreement with Western Ontario University and instrument inventors Drs. John Meyer and Natalie Allen (Appendix E). The TCM survey scales were the Affective (ACS), Continuance (CCS), and Normative Commitment (NCS) Scales. Each scale had eight items, for a total of 24 items, randomly organized in the questionnaire to eliminate recognition of a distinct scale (see Appendix D). All items had a six-point Likert scale response format (e.g., 1 =strongly disagree to 6 = strongly agree) so that the participants needed to decide definitively concerning each item (Light, et al., 1990). Some of the items were worded such that strong agreement reflected a lower level of commitment. These items, referred to as reverse-keyed items, were to persuade participants to think about the statements carefully (Meyer & Allen, 1997). Nine items were reverse-keyed (questions 4, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12 14, 16 and 18) and recoded to reflect 6 = strongly disagree to 1 = strongly agree.

Meyer and Allen (1996) advised that it was plausible to sum the item scores rather than on averaging, but this could create problems if employees fail to respond to some items. However, for this study, participants' responses for each component were summed to yield an overall score due to the small number of the sample. In addition, items not answered were not calculated in the sum; rather, they were calculated according to standard methodology of reporting Likert scale findings (Spector, 1992).

Career Stage Variables. Participants were asked their age; how long they had worked for their current institution; how long they had been in their present position in the institution; whether they had previously experienced a presidential transition and, if so, the number of transitions and whether the transitions were at the current institution; and whether they remained in their current position.
Demographic Profile. Participants were asked their gender, race/ethnicity, personality preferences, degrees earned, salary, employment status, position title, and region of the country employed.

Storage of Data

All survey responses were stored in a Concurrent Versions System (CVS), housed on the university server secured by password-protected firewalls, and maintained by the Oklahoma State University. Data collected through the online questionnaire were downloaded directly to an Excel file by the statistical analysis program. SPSS for Windows version 16.0 was the statistical analysis program utilized by this researcher. Each variable existed in SPSS as numerically coded data.

Data Analysis

The collected data from the online survey were analyzed using SPSS for Windows version 16.0. Following Allen and Meyer (1993), presidential assistants were divided into categorical groups in the three divisions of career stages: (1) age (< 31 years, 31 - 40 years, 41 - 50, 51 - 60, and > 60 years), (2) organizational tenure (< 2 years, 2 - 10 years, > 10 years) and (3) positional tenure (< 2 years, 2 - 10 years, > 10 years). The means for the ACS, CCS and NCS summed scores of the presidential assistants across each career stage were found and presented to ensure accuracy of data entry. Data analysis preceded by (1) finding correlation and (2) multiple regressions to answer the research questions of the study.

To answer the first research question, (what is the relationship between career stages and the three-components of commitment?) multivariate correlations for the three-components of organizational commitment variables – affective, continuance and

normative commitment – as well as the career stage variables – age, organizational tenure and positional tenure – were obtained. The significant correlations among these variables were presented.

To answer the second research question – do career stages predict the commitment of presidential assistants to stay employed with their current institution – semi-partial correlation of multiple regression was conducted to determine if the commitment levels of presidential assistants, the criterion variables – affective commitment, continuance commitment and normative commitment – could be adequately predicted by their career stages, the predictor variables – age, organizational tenure and positional tenure. The multiple regression statistical compilations were reported.

Summary

This chapter described the population of the study, the participants, data methodology (the process and instrument) variables and data analysis. Presidential assistants in public and private higher education institutions in the United States were the targeted population. The data and an analysis of the data are presented in Chapter IV.

64

CHAPTER IV: RESULTS

This chapter presents the results of the study and provides the necessary data to address the research questions. Respondents completed an online survey regarding organizational commitment and career stages and submitted directly to an internet database survey facility operated by the Oklahoma State University. The data are delineated further and discussed in the following sections.

Sample Characteristics

Response Rate

After extensive research to compile a population of presidential assistants, a total of 1,334 potential college and university presidential assistants was identified. Two hundred ninety-three persons submitted responses for an overall response rate of 21.96%. The respondents were filtered by two criteria: (1) If the presidential assistant reported directly to the college or university president, and (2) if their organization was a four-year degree-granting college or university according to the *Carnegie Classification Of Higher Education Institutions*. Of these 293 responses, 279 were considered usable for this research, resulting in a usable response rate of 20.91%.

This response rate fell within acceptable online survey response rates (Cook, Heath, & Thompson, 2000; Krosnick, 1999). Literature suggested that online surveys have commonly fell below the response rate of traditional surveys of 55.6% (Baruch, 1999; Dillman, 2000, 2007; Dillman & Christian, 2003) but provide a quicker response (Dillman, 2007; Ritter & Sue, 2007b). Various factors which can affect online survey have included non-contact of face to face interviewing, non-cooperation (e.g., too busy, self absorbed and erecting barriers), inability to provide data (physically or mentally) and unfavorable societal developments (e.g., lack of civic engagement, obligations and intrusions) (Tourangeau, Rips, & Rasinski, 2000). Another concern was the listserv phenomenon where the survey was distributed through a multiple list on a server and response of no value are returned, and then quality response had become the focus concerned with online survey. Thus, a sample of less than 1% of the population may accurately represent the population (Cook, et al., 2000).

Demographics

The demographic composition of the study sample is reflected in Table 5. Data from the survey provided insight into the composition of presidential assistants in higher education. A greater number of females (79.9%, n = 223) participated than did males $(19.7\%, n = 55)^5$. This is comparable to the literature concerning the gender ratio of presidential assistants in higher education (Carlson, 1991; McDade, et al., 1999; Miles, 2000; O'Reilly Jr., 2000; Quatroche, 1990; Stiles, 2008).

The two most populous groups identified in the sample were 51 to 60 years of age (44.0%, n = 123) and 41 to 50 years of age (28.3%, n = 79) of the sample. Only 3.6% (n = 10) were identified in the under-31-years-of-age category, the least populous group. The age groups 31 to 40 years of age (12.9%, n = 37) and over-60-years-of-age (10.5%, n = 30) were relatively close in the sample.

⁵ All missing responses are reported in Table 5.

Table 5

Demographics from Survey Responses

Variables ^a	Frequency	Valid Percent
Gender	1 2	
Missing	1	.4
Female	223	79.9
Male	55	19.7
Total	279	100
Age		
Under 31 yrs.	10	3.6
31-40 yrs.	37	13.3
41-50 yrs.	79	28.3
51-60 yrs.	123	44.0
Over 60 yrs.	30	10.8
Total	279	100
Race & Ethnicity		
White	236	84.6
African American	24	8.6
American Indian / Alaskan Native	2	.7
Hispanic	10	3.6
Asian / Pacific Islander	5	1.8
Other	2	.7
Total	279	100
Education		
High School Diploma	18	6.5
Associates Degree	31	11.1
Bachelor Degree	88	31.5
Master Degree	86	30.8
Doctoral Degree	41	14.7
Other	15	5.4
Total	279	100
Full / Part Time		
Full Time	263	94.3
Part Time	4	1.4
Missing	12	4.3
Total	279	100
Salary		
Below \$20,000	1	.4
\$20,000 - \$39,999	32	11.5
\$40,000 - \$59,999	79	28.3
\$60,000 - \$79,999	68	24.4
\$80,000 - \$100,000	43	15.4
Over \$100,000	56	20.0
Total	279	100

Variables ^a	Frequency	Valid Percent
Public/Private Institution		
Public Dublic	146	52.2
P UUIIC Drivete	140	52.5 47.0
Missing	151	47.0
Total	270	./
I Otal Decien of the USA	219	100
New England	20	7.2
New England Mid. Atlantia	20	1.2
Mid-Atlantic	47	16.8
East North Central	40	14.3
West North Central	33 52	12.5
South Atlantic	52	18.0
East South Central	17	0.1 7.0
West South Central	22	/.9
Mountain	15	5.4
Pacific & Islands	30	10.8
Missing		.4
l otal	279	100
Career Tenure in Higher Education	a <i>t</i>	
Less than 2 years	24	8.6
2 to 10 years	61	21.7
10 to 15 years	37	13.3
15 to 20 years	52	18.6
Over 20 years	104	37.3
Missing	1	.5
Total	279	100
Organizational Tenure		
Less than 2 years	35	12.5
2 to 10 years	86	30.8
More than 10 years	156	55.9
Missing	2	.8
Total	279	100
Positional Tenure		
Less than 2 years	66	23.7
2 to 10 years	137	49.1
More than 10 years	72	26.9
Missing	1	.3
Total	279	100

^{*a.*} N = 279.

Other characteristics of the sample revealed the majority of the presidential assistants was ethnically white (84.6%, n = 236), with a bachelor degree or higher (77.0%, n = 215), working full time (94.3%, n = 263) in a public college or university (52.3%, n = 146). Salaries reported by the survey showed that the largest grouping was \$40,000 - \$59,999 (28.3%, n = 79) followed by \$60,000 - \$79,999 (24.4%, n = 68). In addition, more presidential assistants earned in excess of \$100,000 (20.0%, n = 56) than less than \$40,000 (11.9%, n = 33).

Geographically, as depicted below, a higher percentage of respondents are employed in the regions of the South Atlantic (18.6%, n = 52), the Mid-Atlantic (16.8%, n = 47), the East North Central (14.3%, n = 40), the West North Central (12.5%, n = 35) and the Pacific & Islands (10.8%, n = 30) of the United States (see *Figure 2*). The lower percentages who reported are employed in the regions of the Mountain (5.4%, n = 15), the East South Central (6.1%, n = 17), the New England (7.2%, n = 20) and the West South Central (7.9%, n = 22) of the United States.



Figure 2. Regional Proportions Reported in Sample

Average age, tenure and time in the institution were examined. The average age of presidential assistants was 41–50 years. For organizational tenure and positional tenure, they averaged 2-10 years of employment with the institution. The majority had worked in higher education for more than 15 years (55.91%, n = 156). Presidential assistants had also worked for the same institution for more than 10 years (55.9%, n = 156); and while in their current position, they had worked between 2-10 years (49.1%, n = 137). More presidential assistants had held their current position longer than ten years (26.9%, n = 75), than those who had held the position for less than two years (23.7%, n = 66).

The preferred personalities types of the sample reported (N = 209) are extraverts 62.68% (n = 131), as compared to introverts 37.32%. Comparable to McDade's (1999) study, this study reported more sensors (57.89%, n = 121) than intuitive (42.11%,

n = 88) and more thinkers (58.85%, n = 123) than feelers (41.15%, n = 86). This study reported higher percentages concerning Judging/Perceiving that the literature with more judgers (75.60%, n = 158) than perceivers (24.88%, n = 52). As well this study reported Sensing/Judging (50.72%, n = 106) personality types dominated the field, while a remnant of Sensing/Perceiving personality types (7.18%, n = 15) were represented are reflected in Table 6. The largest group reported in the sample was the ESTJ (21.05%, n = 44), followed by ISTJ (15.79%, n = 33) and ESFJ (10.53%, n = 22).

Table 6

Myers Briggs Personality Preference Types

Variables ^a	Frequency	Valid Percent
ISTJ	33	15.8%
ISFJ	7	3.3%
INFJ	7	3.3%
INTJ	13	6.2%
ISTP	1	0.5%
ISFP	4	1.9%
INFP	10	4.8%
INTP	3	1.4%
ESTP	2	1.0%
ESFP	8	3.8%
ENFP	14	6.7%
ENTP	10	4.8%
ESTJ	44	21.1%
ESFJ	22	10.5%
ENFJ	14	6.7%
ENTJ	17	8.1%

^{a.} N = 209.

Descriptive Statistics

Univariate descriptive statistics were determined for all the variables used in the study. Table 7 presents the means, standard deviations, minimum and maximum score values obtained by the presidential assistants, possible score range values for each of the

variables, and reliability scores. Shown in Table 8 are the means for the ACS, CCS and NCS scores of presidential assistants within each career stage

To ensure the quality of the commitment component scales, all 24 items from the TCM were retained and the data re-analyzed for internal reliability. The results of the coefficient alpha analysis for the 24 items, eight items for each of the threecomponents, are summarized in Table 7. Coefficient alpha is sensitive not only to the sampling of items but also to sources of measurement error that are present within the testing (Nunnally & Bernstein, 1994). The Cronbach's coefficient alphas for the committed component scales dimensions ranged from .658 to .848. These coefficient alpha values are comparable to Allen and Meyer study (1996, p. 545).

Presidential assistants' averaged affective commitment score was 37.91. The standard deviation of the affective scale among presidential assistants in this study was 7.303. The average normative commitment score for presidential assistants was 31.44, with a standard deviation of 7.694. The average continuance commitment score by presidential assistants was 31.77, with a standard deviation of 6.412.

The patterns of means were similar to the literature that affective and normative commitment were higher in older than younger employees, however, unlike Allen and Meyer's (1993) study the affective and normative commitment were as high among 31 – 40 years old presidential assistants as the over 60 years. Continuance commitment had higher means with the two middle groups (31 - 40 years and 41 - 50 years), however were significant across the age groups. Contrary to the literature, in this study, normative commitment was not significant across age groups only affective commitment was significant.

Table 7

Variables	N	Mean	Std. Dev.	Min - Max	Range	Cronbach's alpha
Criterion						
ACS	279	37.91	7.303	8-48	40	.848
CCS	279	31.44	7.694	13 – 48	35	.746
NCS	279	31.77	6.412	13 – 48	35	.658
Predictors						
Age	279	3.45	.973	1 – 5	4	
Organizational						
Tenure	277	2.44	.707	1 – 3	2	
Positional						
Tenure	278	2.03	.713	1 – 3	2	

Descriptive Statistics for Variables

Similar to the literature, normative increased significantly across positional tenure. Unlike Allen and Meyer's study, affective, continuance and normative commitment levels, all significantly increased across organizational tenure and positional tenure. Similar information is presented in Table 10 in the form of correlations between each commitment component and each career stage variable.

Table 8

	Levels of the Career Stage variables										
	(N = 279)					(N = 277)				(N = 278)	
	AG1 (n = 10)	AG2 (n = 37)	AG3 (n = 79)	AG4 (n = 123)	AG5 (n = 30)	OT1 (n = 35)	OT2 (n = 86)	OT3 (n = 156)	PT1 (n = 66)	PT2 (n = 137)	PT3 (n = 75)
ACS	33.50	38.22	36.70	38.49	39.80	34.57	36.02	39.76	35.74	37.43	40.84
CCS	26.70	32.73	32.29	31.24	30.00	28.66	30.44	32.66	30.39	30.80	33.73
NCS	31.70	32.62	31.06	31.72	32.80	30.43	30.52	32.72	30.11	31.58	33.56

Organizational Commitment Components at Career Stage Levels

Note: For age: AG1 = < 31yrs., AG2 = 31-40 yrs., AG3 = 41-50 yrs., AG4 = 51-60 yrs., AG5 = > 60 yrs. For organizational tenure and

positional tenure: $OT1/PT1 = \langle 2 \text{ yrs.}, OT2/PT2 = 2-10 \text{ yrs.}, OT3/PT3 = \rangle 10 \text{ yrs.}$

The skewness value for the affective scale's distribution was -1.492. The skewness value for the continuance scale's distribution was -0.072. The skewness value for the normative scale's distribution was -0.249. The skewness value for the age variable's distribution was -0.536. The skewness value for the organizational tenure variable's distribution was -0.857, whereas the skewness value for the positional tenure variable's distribution was -0.047.

The values of variance of inflation (VIF) and tolerance for each performance factor were used to test the extent of multicollinearity and collinearity. There is no well-defined critical value to indicate a large VIF. Some authors suggest that 10 was large enough to indicate multicollinearity error (Chatterjee & Price, 1991; Stine, 1995). The VIF values for organizational tenure (1.873) and positional tenure (1.861) in this study did not exceed 10, which would indicate a multicollinearity error, thus, there is no error to report (see Table 9).

Table 9

			Std. Error		Std. Error	Collinea Statisti	rity cs
Variables	Ν	Skewness	Skewness	Kurtosis	Kurtosis	Tolerance	VIF
Criterion							
ACS	279	(1.492)	.146	2.793	.291		
CCS	279	(.072)	.146	(.489)	.291		
NCS	279	(.249)	.146	.409	.291		
Predictors							
Age	279	(.536)	.146	(.109)	.291	.809	1.236
Organizational							
Tenure	277	(.857)	.146	(.550)	.292	.534	1.873
Positional							
Tenure	278	(.047)	.146	(1.021)	.291	.537	1.861

Descriptive Statistics for Skewness and Kurtosis and Multicollinearity

Analysis of Hypotheses

As previously stated, two related issues were addressed in this study. The first involved the relationships between the three-components of commitment and the career stage variables and the second examined the ability of career stage variables could predict the commitment levels of presidential assistants.

The first issue of this study was guided by the following null hypothesis (Ho):

Ho1: There is no significant relationship between career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) and three-component commitment levels.

Hypothesis 1 (Ho1) examined the relationship between career stages and the three-component commitment levels. Within each career stage grouping, partial correlations were calculated between the three-component commitment levels. Correlations between ACS and all career stage variables were found to be significant. CCS and NCS were significantly correlated to Organizational Tenure and Positional Tenure (Table 10). Like Allen and Meyer (1993), this study found no evidence of a curvilinear relationship between the three-component commitments and either career stage variables.

Ho1 is rejected because the correlation coefficient (*r*) was statistically significant. The Pearson bivariate correlation coefficients reached statistical significance. It may be concluded that affective commitment was positively correlated to age (r = .133; p < 0.05, two-tailed), positional tenure (r = .252, p < 0.01, two-tailed) and most strongly to organizational tenure (r = .282, p < 0.01, two-tailed). Continuance commitment was positively correlated to positional tenure (r = .159, p < 0.01, twotailed) and most strongly to organizational tenure (r = .190, p < 0.01, twotailed). As well, normative commitment was positively correlated to organizational tenure (r = .157, p < 0.01, two-tailed) and most strongly to positional tenure (r = .193, p < 0.01, two-tailed). Thus, organizational commitment of presidential assistants is correlated to career stages (see Table 10). As the literature reviewed indicated presidential assistants have an emotional attachment to the organization influenced by

age; an obligation commitment to the organization due in part because of the length of time they had held their position; and consider remaining due to cost of disassociation due in part because of the length of time they have served the organization.

Table 10

Vari	ACS	CCS	NCS	
Age	Pearson Correlation	.133*	(.031)	.015
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.027	.612	.804
	Ν	279	279	279
Organizational	Pearson Correlation	.282**	.190**	.157**
Tenure	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.001	.009
	Ν	277	277	277
Positional Tenure	Pearson Correlation	.252**	.159**	.193**
	Sig. (2-tailed)	.000	.008	.001
	Ν	278	278	278

Correlations Between Career Stages and TCM

*p < 0.05, two-tailed. **p < 0.01, two-tailed.

The second issue of this study was guided by the following null hypothesis: Career stages do not significantly predict the commitment of college and Ho2: university presidential assistants to stay employed with their current institution. Each predictor was assessed individually, but only the tests of the partial regression coefficients for Organizational Tenure (t = 2.531; p = .012) reached 78

statistical significance (p<.05) for ACS. As well, Organizational Tenure (β = .200) was the stronger predictor of ACS. Age (t = -1.982; p = .048) and Organizational Tenure (t = 2.340; p = .020) both reached statistical significance for CCS. However, Organizational Tenure (β = .189) was the stronger predictor of CCS. Positional Tenure (t = 2.148; p = .033) reached statistical significance and was the stronger predictor (β = .173) of NCS (see Table 11).

Table 11

Coefficients

		Unstar Coef	ndardized ficients	Standardized Coefficients		
	Model	В	Std. Error	β	t	Sig.
ACS	(Constant)	30.129	1.815		16.597	.000*
	Age	.137	.483	.018	.284	.776
	Organizational Te	enure 2.065	.816	.200	2.531	.012*
	Positional Tenure	1.138	.809	.111	1.408	.160
CCS	(Constant)	28.250	1.944		14.535	$.000^{*}$
	Age	(1.025)	.517	(.130)	(1.982)	.048*
	Organizational Te	enure 2.044	.873	.189	2.340	.020*
	Positional Tenure	.866	.866	.081	1.004	.316
NCS	(Constant)	28.863	1.637		17.628	.000*
	Age	(.583)	.435	(.088)	1.338	.182
	Organizational Te	enure .703	.736	.077	.955	.340
	Positional Tenure	1.567	.729	.173	2.148	.033*

* *p* < 0.05.

Hypothesis 2 (Ho2) was rejected because the F-statistics for the three regressions were statistically significant. Multiple regression analysis was used to

analyze the relationship between dimensions of commitment (criterion variables) and career stages (predictor variables), and to test the hypotheses. The F-statistics [ACS F(3,273) = 8.667, (p = .000); CCS F(3,273) = 4.923, (p = .002); and NCS F(3,273) = 4.200, (p = .006)] for the three regressions were significant (p < .05) indicating that career stages were a good predicator of each commitment level (see Table 12).

Table 12

Anaiys	Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)							
		Sum of		Mean				
	Model	Squares	df	Square	F	Sig.		
ACS	Regression	1276.549	3	425.516	8.667	.000 ^{a*}		
	Residual	13402.527	273	49.094				
	Total	14679.076	276					
CCS	Regression	831.009	3	277.003	4.923	.002 ^{a*}		
	Residual	15361.916	273	56.271				
	Total	16192.924	276					
NCS	Regression	503.194	3	167.731	4.200	.006 ^{a*}		
	Residual	10903.117	273	39.938				
	Total	11406.310	276					

Analysis of Variance (ANOVA)

^{a.} Predictors: (Constant), Positional Tenure, Age, Organizational Tenure

* *p* < 0.05.

The beta coefficients were tested to see if they were significantly different from each other. The coefficient of determined (R^2) was also examined to explain the explanatory power of the regression equation or how well career stages predict

commitment to employment. The variance sum of the commitment levels was unlike the literature in this study. The beta coefficients differ among themselves in magnitude. The beta coefficient allowed for direct comparison between the regression coefficients and their explanatory power on the dependent variable [three-component commitment levels (ACS, CCS and NCS)] (see Table 13). The affective commitment held the most strength ($R^2 = .087$) but was not significant.

Table 13

Model Summary							
Model	R	R^2	Adjusted R^2	Std. Error of the Estimate			
ACS	.295 ^a	.087	.077	7.007			
CCS	.227 ^a	.051	.041	7.501			
NCS	.210 ^a	.044	.044	6.320			

^{*a.*} Predictors: (Constant), Positional Tenure, Age, Organizational Tenure

Summary

This chapter presented the data analysis addressing two research questions. Correlation matrices were used to assess the first research question. Results showed that career stages and the three-components of commitment were correlated. TCM was tested, with career stage variables predicting commitment. Each of the three career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) was found to be statistically a significant predictor differentially to the three-component model commitments (ACS, CCS and NCS). Organizational tenure was the strongest predictor of ACS and CCS, with age significant only to CCS and positional tenure significant only to NCS. Discussions of this study's findings, implications and further research are presented in Chapter V.

CHAPTER V: DISCUSSION

This chapter discusses the study's findings, its implications and further research that are needed. The research findings of this study include an overview of the empirical research that was conducted. Attention is also given to the study's implications for theory, research and practice. Finally, recommendations for future studies are presented along with a general conclusion.

Research Study Overview

The purpose of this study was to determine the relationship between career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) and the three-component commitment levels (Affective Commitment Scale – ACS, Continuance Commitment Scale – CCS and Normative Commitment Scale – NCS) as well as their ability to predict the intent to stay of presidential assistants in higher education institutions, both private and public, in the United States. The major objectives of this study were to:

- Determine the relationship between career stages and the three-components of commitment of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States.
- 2. Determine whether career stages predict the commitment of presidential assistants to stay employed with their current institutions.

This online questionnaire was developed through a literature review and permission to use the TCM (Three-Component Model) instrument granted by the authors Meyers and Allen (Appendix E). The survey was divided into two major sections. The first section incorporated the TCM instrument using a six-point Likert scale that asked questions related to the respondents' commitment to the position in the institution in which he or she was currently employed. The second section integrated a set of demographic questions related to gender, age, educational level, personality preference type, and geographical region employed in the United States.

According to the literature reviewed attitudes and behaviors of employees associated with their intent to remain employed has been an increasing concern (Steers, et al., 2004). It was strategically important to understand this psychological linkage between employee and organization predicted by career stages because presidential assistants have a longer positional tenure than their executives do. For this reason, the TCM instrument was adapted in this study in order to gain insight of college and university presidential assistants regarding their commitment to remain employed in their position.

Results and Findings

The purpose of this research study was to examine the three-components of organizational commitment (affective, continuance and normative) relative to the career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States. This study examined the ability of career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) to predict the commitment levels (affective, continuance and normative) reported by presidential assistants.

This study focused on two research questions:

- Is there a relationship between career stages and the three-components of commitment of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States?
- 2. Do career stages predict the commitment of presidential assistants to stay employed with their current institutions?

These questions led to the formation of the following two null hypotheses (Ho) that guided this empirical research:

- Ho1: There is no significant relationship between career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) and three-component commitment levels (affective, continuance and normative) of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States.
- Ho2: Career stages do not significantly predict the commitment of college and university presidential assistants to stay employed with their current institution.

Study Response

The population of this study consisted of college and university presidential assistants. The sample used in this study was a census of presidential assistants from both public and private college and universities in the United States. There were 1,334 subjects contacted and 293 responded, for an overall response rate of 21.96%. Of these 293 responses, 279 were considered usable for this research, resulting in a usable response rate of 20.91%. This is an acceptable internet response rate according to internet survey responses although not as high as more traditional forms of survey according to the literature (Cook, et al., 2000; Dillman, 2000, 2007; Dillman &

Christian, 2003). The responses appear to be high quality according to the statistical analysis of this study which results in an accurate reflection of the population as previously argued (Cook, et al., 2000; Krosnick, 1999).

Demographic Profile

Analysis of the demographic data collected revealed that a typical composite picture of those in the position of assisting the highest executive officer of colleges and universities are white (84.6%) females (79.9%) between the ages of 51 to 60 years of age (44.0%) with a bachelors degree or higher (77.0%). This was comparable to the national study of McDade, et al., (1999) concerning the composite picture of presidential assistants. This study reported an older typical presidential assistant compared to the national study's 41 to 50 years of age. A 12.8% higher rate of females was reported. A reported change in the percentage of minorities employed as presidential assistants was also noted. There was a decrease in the percentage of black assistants, 8.6% reported in this study compared to 9.6% of the national study. However, there has been a significant increase in the combined minority groups of American Indian/Alaskan Native, Hispanic, Asian/Pacific Islander and other from 4.7% of the national survey to 15.5% of this study.

There was a notable increase in the education level of presidential assistants reported in this study compared to the national study (McDade, et al., 1999; Miles, 2000). The education level of this study reported a 4% to 17% increase in all degree programs with one exception, doctoral degrees. The reported education level of presidential assistants was high school diploma and associate degree 17.6% to 13.9%, bachelor degree 31.5% to 19.5% and master degree 30.8% to 26.3%, with the exception

87

of the doctoral degree 14.7% to 24.9%, which was about a 10% decrease. The educational level attained by presidential assistants is still a primary focus this may explain why salaries the increase in salaries for this profession as suggested in the literature.

It was reported in this study that the salaries of presidential assistants have increased compared to previous studies of Carlson (1991) and O'Reilly (2000). Presidential assistants that earned annual salaries of less than \$39,999 were 11.9%, \$40,000 to \$59,999 were 28.3%, \$60,000 to \$79,999 were 24.4%, \$80,000 to \$100,000 were 15.4% and 20.0% that had earned more than \$100,000 annually. This study revealed a conservative 4% to 6% increase in each category of reported income, as well, identified that 20% of the reported presidential assistants earned more than \$100,000 in an annual salary.

The majority of presidential assistants were employed in a public (52.3%) higher education institution in the United States comparable to previous studies. This study introduces new data concerning the regions of the United States where presidential assistants are primarily employed. The majority of presidential assistants, according to the respondents, are in the Atlantic and Central regions of the United States, (i.e., South Atlantic (18.6%), the Mid-Atlantic (16.8%), the East North Central (14.3%) and the West North Central (12.5%). More study is needed to confidently suggest if regional culture is a factor to the commitment of presidential assistants.

The last area in the demographic profile was the reported personality preference type of presidential assistants. This study found an overwhelming percentage were extraverts (62.68%) even larger than percentage found in the literature. All 16-personality preference types were reported, several below 5%, even one less than 1%. As well this study reported Sensing/Judging (50.72%) personality types dominated the field, while a remnant of Sensing/Perceiving personality types (7.18%, n = 15) were present. The largest group reported in the sample was the ESTJ (21.05%, n = 44), followed by ISTJ (15.79%, n = 33) and ESFJ (10.53%, n = 22).

Literature characterized ESTJs as individuals that like to organize projects, operations, procedures, and people, and then act to get things done. They accept a set of clear standards and beliefs, make a systematic effort to follow these, and expect the same from others (I. B. Myers, et al., 2003, p. 88). This preference type would seem to be appropriate for the roles and responsibilities of presidential assistants. The second populous group reported, ISTJs are characterized as individuals that have a strong sense of responsibility and great loyalty to organizations, families and other relationships. They work at a steady pace in the workplace to fulfill commitments on time. As well, they will go to any trouble to accomplish what they deem as important and necessary as long as it makes logical sense (I. B. Myers, et al., 2003, p. 65). The third largest group of indicated presidential assistants was ESFJ. These individuals are characterized by the literature to organize people and situations, then work with others to complete tasks accurately and on time (I. B. Myers, et al., 2003, p. 96). The difference between the ESTJs and the ESFJs is that ESTJs use their Thinking primarily to organize their lives and work, whereas, ESFJs use experiential facts and value emotional stability and security in the environment and will work to ensure no conflict or tense situations. The informed personality preference types lend to question how these professionals remain in the background to accomplish their roles and responsibilities, as literature suggested,

89

while more than a majority reported their energy was extraverted. The organizational skills and cognitive thinking associated with Sensing-Thinking-Judging supports the literature of leadership role.

Research Objectives

This study addressed two related issues. The first examined the relationship between the three-components of commitment and the career stage variables; the second examined if career stage variable could predict the commitment of presidential assistants.

Built upon the previous study by Allen and Meyer (1993), this study employed the TCM to collect the respondent's commitment levels to the institution where he or she was currently employed. The study further supported the reliability of the instrument with the new population. As well, confirmed that career stages have a positive relationship with the three-component commitment of presidential assistants. These career stages were also found to predict the commitment levels of presidential assistants to their current institution.

Affective commitment is positively correlated to age (r = .133, p < 0.05, twotailed) and positional tenure (r = .252, p < 0.01, two-tailed) but is most strongly related to organizational tenure (r = .282, p < 0.01, two-tailed). Continuance commitment is positively correlated to positional tenure (r = .159, p < 0.01, two-tailed) and most strongly to organizational tenure (r = .190, p < 0.01, two-tailed). As well, normative commitment is positively correlated to organizational tenure (.157, p < 0.01, two-tailed) and most strongly to positional tenure (r = .193, p < 0.01, two-tailed). Thus, organizational commitment of presidential assistants is related to career stages. As the literature reviewed indicated, presidential assistants have an emotional attachment to the organization influenced by age; an obligation commitment to the organization due in part because of the length of time they had held their position; and consider remaining due to cost of disassociation due in part because of the length of time they have served the organization.

Age is seen as a predictor only to affective commitment. As with the literature, this study found that affective commitment increased with presidential assistant's age. As indicated earlier, maturity, better experiences and/or cohort explanations could all be the reasoning for this study's findings. However, unlike the literature, age is not the more strongly linked career stage variable to the three-component commitment.

Organizational tenure is seen as a predictor for each of the three-component commitments. The stronger predictor for affective and continuance commitment, which was not seen in literature, previous studies have indicated affective and normative commitment were predicted more strongly by organizational tenure. The employee may have learnt about the significance of the institution, as previously indicated in the literature review, which they made an investment to remain throughout the length of time thus served their current institution.

Normative tenure is more strongly related to positional tenure, unlike any previous literature. The nature of the commitment of obligation by the employee could be associated to their understanding of the importance of their work, roles and tasks, had long since overcame the reality shock, resulting in affective commitment changes within the confines of the organization.

91

Implications

The results of this study have important implications in all the areas of theory, research and practice.

Theory

The literature reviewed in this study suggests there is a relationship between affective, continuance and normative commitment to the career stages of employees (Allen & Meyer, 1993). The findings in this study reinforce the concept that career stages of an employee are related to the Meyer and Allen (1991) multidimensional construct of affective, continuance and normative commitment. A major contribution of this study is that it tested the theory base of the TCM (Allen & Meyer, 1990b; Meyer & Allen, 1984, 1987b) with a new population, presidential assistants. The theory base of TCM is organizational commitment that combines the attitudinal approach defined by Mowday and his colleagues (Mowday, et al., 1979; Porter, et al., 1974) and behavioral approaches developed by Howard Becker (1960), which Allen and Meyer tested in their own study (1993). This combination resulted in the inclusion of the affective commitment and the perceived cost commitment of the attitudinal and behavioral approaches to define and measure organizational commitment of employees.

This research took the perspective of organizational commitment based on the three-component model and found that the presidential assistants' commitment levels significantly influence their intent to stay employed with their institution. The TCM Employee Commitment proposed that presidential assistants would remain with an organization because of their commitment of three approaches. This study found that presidential assistants' *desire*, an emotional commitment to the organization (affective)

commitment), influenced them to remain at their organization. The study also found that presidential assistants did consider the *costs* of disassociation with the organization to be too high (continuance commitment); therefore, they remain employed in their current position. Lastly, presidential assistants did exhibit feelings of *obligation* to remain with the organization (normative commitment). As a result, the TCM could be applied as a measurement tool with confidence to presidential assistants at four-year degree-granting, private and public colleges and universities in the United States whether they would remain employed in their current position. Application of the TCM to other relevant higher education employees to determine their intention of remaining employed may reasonably be applied, but caution should be exercised due to the limitation of this study.

Research

It was clear from the correlations that commitment to the organization was related to age, the organization tenure and the positional tenure. The results of the correlation analyses provide evidence for the utility of using career stages as predictors of organizational commitment with university presidential assistants. The fact that the three-components of organizational commitment were differentially related to each of the career stages provides a greater understanding of the commitment of presidential assistants in their position and occupation where they are employed.

There was a link between organizational commitment and career stages. The relationship between the organizational commitment and career stages were found to be comparable to previous studies. The ability for career stages to successfully predict employee commitment to remain in their position was as mentioned in the above

section, the population of administrative assistants has not been researched using TCM, and this study contributes to the literature by adding a fresh perspective to understanding presidential assistants and their commitment to the field.

The study further supported the reliability of the TCM instrument with the new population in higher education. As well, confirmed that career stages have a positive relationship with the three-component commitment of presidential assistants. These career stages were also found to predict the commitment levels of presidential assistants to their current institution. Their executive could identify the implication that commitment levels of presidential assistants could be predicted with of the career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure). This would imply, as suggested by researchers previously mentioned in the literature review, that as executives identify the type of commitment their assistants hold at a particular age or tenure with the organization or position then an application of appropriate stimulus incentives would increase workplace efficiency and productivity (Gonzalez & Guillen, 2008; Mowday, et al., 1982; Porter & Lawler III, 1968; Porter, et al., 1974; Steers & Mowday, 1987; Tomas & Manuel, 2008).

Practice

The results of the regression analyses indicated that career stages did make a significant, albeit small, contribution to the prediction of occupational commitment. Thus, it appears that the length a presidential assistant was employed with an organization influences the commitment level he or she had with the organization. It would seem important to executives that as commitments change (e.g., affective commitment transition to normative commitment) implantation of specific motivational

strategies should change. Presidents that are able to identify the particular organizational commitment held by the most trusted employee, their assistant, would continue to afford effective opportunities of job satisfaction. The reverse would indicate that the college and university president's office would be in continued chaos of new hires and basic training sessions due to constant turnover of dissatisfied presidential assistants.

This study found that presidential assistants' desire, an emotional commitment to the organization (affective commitment), influenced them to remain at their organization and their consideration toward the *costs* of disassociation with the organization to be too high (continuance commitment), as well, they remain employed in their current position when they felt an *obligation* to remain with the organization (normative commitment). As a result, the TCM could be applied as a measurement tool with confidence to higher education employees to determine whether they intend to stay employed. College and university presidents maintain confidence in the administrative assistant through continued close training. The key mediating elements of this relationship are loyalty and trust as suggested by Heere and Dickson (2008) in the literature review. The benefit to understand presidential assistants' commitment will benefit the college administrators in maintaining that close confidante in those who make an investment to continued employment. This application could be a valuable tool for new presidents, new and tenured, in their position to determine the commitment of their assistant, whether his or her tenure in the position has been one year or thirteen years, to identify the motivational commitment to the college or university and more specifically their position.

Future Research

The research findings suggest that commitment levels of presidential assistants in an organization have an effect by career stages, but the data are limited. More research is needed to examine the organizational impact of the commitment of presidential assistants concerning the magnitude of variance. The use of more demographic variables of presidential assistants would lead to a stronger variance of individual commitment (e.g., gender, ethnicity, education, personality preference, salary, career tenure and president's tenure). It would seem reasonable that higher education institutions are likely to employ fewer people, but the office of the president is expected to maintain an assistant who will continue to be the gatekeeper and his or her right hand. College and university presidents are more likely to invest a great deal in these employees and to be in competition with other organizations for their services.

Similarly, higher education institutions are also likely to examine the impact of the commitment of presidential assistants due in part to the decreasing tenure of presidents, while presidential assistants' tenure continues to increase. Colleges and universities are seeking means and ways of making presidential transitions more efficient and effective. If commitment has benefits to employees as well as to organizations, higher education institutions will seek focus for their commitment.

Qualitative methodology would also be helpful in future studies. Such studies could better address the organizational culture of the various university settings as well as offer thick description of those settings. Using such methodology as interviews, document analysis and participant observations, researchers could better indentify and explain the various factors that might lead to administrative assistants' effectiveness and satisfaction.

Conclusion

In conclusion, since most of the organizational commitment research using the TCM has been conducted among business and limited professions, this study provides support for the model to be applicable among educational professionals. Results from this study may assist college and university presidents in examining the motivation of their executive assistants for remaining employed using career stages as predictors of such commitment.

REFERENCES

- ACE (2007). The American college president 2007 edition 20th anniversary.Washington, DC: American Council on Education (ACE) Center for Policy Analysis.
- AGB Task Force (2006). *The leadership imperative: The report of the AGB Task Force on the state of the presidency in American higher education.* Washington, DC: American Governing Boards.
- Allen, N. J., & Meyer, J. P. (1990a). The measurement and antecedents of affective, continuance and normative commitment to the organization. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 63(1), 1-18.
- Allen, N. J., & Meyer, J. P. (1990b). Organizational socialization tactics: A longitudinal analysis of links to newcomers' commitment and role orientation. *Academy of Management Journal*, 33(4), 847-858.
- Allen, N. J., & Meyer, J. P. (1993). Organizational commitment: Evidence of career stage effects? *Journal of Business Research*, *26*, 49-61.
- Allen, N. J., & Meyer, J. P. (1996). Affective, continuance and normative commitment to the organization: An examination of construct validity. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 49(3), 252-276.
- Allen, N. J., & Meyer, J. P. (2000). Construct validation in organizational behavior research: The case of organizational commitment. In R. D. Goffin & E. Helmes
(Eds.), *Problems and solutions in human assessment: Honouring Douglas N. Jackson at seventy* (pp. 285-314). Norwell, MA: Kluwer.

- Alton, B. T., & Dean, K. L. (2002). Why presidents think the grass is greener. *Trusteeship*, *10*(3), 23.
- Ambrose, M. L., Arnaud, A., & Schminke, M. (2008). Individual moral development and ethical climate: The influence of person-organization fit on Job attitudes. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 77(3), 323-333.
- Angle, H. L., & Lawson, M. B. (1993). Changes in affective and continuance commitment in times of relocation. *Journal of Business Research*, 26, 3-15.
- Baruch, Y. (1999). Response rates in academic studies a comparative analysis. *Human Relations*, 52, 421-434.
- Battistelli, A., Mariani, M., & Bello, B. (2006). Normative commitment to the organization, support and self competence. *Systemic of Emergence: Research and Development*, 515-526.
- Becker, H. S. (1960). Notes on the concept of commitment. *American Journal of Sociology*, 66, 32-42.
- Blau, G., Paul, A., & St. John, N. (1993). On developing a general index of work commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 42, 298-314.

Boapimp, S. (1983). Perceptions and expectations of the leadership behaviors of presidents in selected rural two-year colleges as seen by faculty and governing board members. Unpublished Dissertation, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK.

- Britt, M. M. (2002). Organizational commitment, the glass ceiling and New England higher education executive positions. Unpublished Dissertation, Nova Southeastern University.
- Burke, R. J. (1989). Career stages, satisfaction and well-being among police officers. *Psychological Reports*, 65, 3-12.
- Buss, A. H., & Plomin, R. (1975). A temperament theory of personality. New York: Wiley.
- Caldwell, C., & Hayes, L. A. (2007). Leadership, trustworthiness and the mediating. *The Journal of Management Development*, 26(3), 261-281.
- Caldwell, D., & O'Reilly III, C. A. (1990). Measuring person-job fit with a profilecomparison process. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75(6), 648-657.
- Carlson, N. L. (1991). Professional roles and functions of presidential assistants in contemporary higher education. Unpublished Dissertation, Vanderbilt University.
- Carson, K. D., & Carson, P. P. (2002). Differential relationships associated with two distinct dimensions of continuance commitment. *International Journal of Organization Theory & Behavior*, 5, 359.
- Chatterjee, S., & Price, B. (1991). *Regression analysis by example* (2nd ed.). New York: Wiley.
- Clark, B. R. (1997). Belief and loyalty in college organization. In T. I. K. Youn & P. B.Murphy (Eds.), *Organizational studies in higher education* (pp. 121-137).Boston: Boston College.

- Cohen, A. M. (1998). *The shaping of American higher education: Emergence and growth of the contemporary system*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass Inc.
- Cohen, M. D., & March, J. G. (1974). *Leadership and ambiguity: The American college* president. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Cohen, M. D., & March, J. G. (1997). Decisions, presidents, and status. In T. I. K. Youn
 & P. B. Murphy (Eds.), *Organizational studies in higher education* (pp. 224-255). Boston: Boston College.
- Cook, C., Heath, F., & Thompson, R. L. (2000). A meta-analysis of response rates in web- or internet-based surveys. *Educational & Psychological Measurement*, 60(6), 821-836.
- Corrigan, M. E. (2002). *The American college president 2002 edition* (2002 ed.). Washington, DC: American Council on Education. Center for Policy Analysis.
- Cranny, C. J., Smith, P. C., & Stone, E. F. (Eds.). (1992). Job satisfaction: How people feel about their jobs and how it affects their performance. New York: Lexington Books.
- Cronbach, L. J., & Maeehl, P. E. (1955). Construct validity in psychological tests. *Psychological Bulletin*, 52, 281-302.
- Dahl, R. A. (1997). The concept of power. In P. G. Altbach (Ed.), *Organizational studies in higher education* (pp. 157-171). Boston: Boston College.
- Dale, K., & Fox, M. L. (2008). Leadership style and organizational commitment: Mediating effect of role stress. *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 20, 109-130.

- David, S., & Matthew, H. (2008). An empirical examination of a three-component model of professional commitment among public accountants. *Behavioral Research in Accounting*, 20, 75-92.
- Dawis, R. V. (1992). Person-environment fit and job satisfaction. In C. J. Cranny, P. C.
 Smith & E. F. Stone (Eds.), *Job satisfaction: How people feel about their jobs* and how it affects their performance (pp. 69-88). New York: Lexington Books.
- Deborah, M. P., & John, P. M. (2004). Side-bet theory and the three-component model of organizational commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *65*, 157-177.
- Dillman, D. A. (2000). *Mail and Internet surveys: The tailored design method* (2nd ed.). New York: J. Wiley.
- Dillman, D. A. (2007). Mail and internet surveys: The tailored design method (2nd ed.).Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Dillman, D. A., & Christian, L. M. (2003). Survey mode as a source of instability in responses across surveys. Pullman, WA: Social and Economic Sciences Research Center (SESRC) at Washington State University.
- Duham, R. B., Grube, J. A., & Castaneda, M. B. (1994). Organizational commitment:
 The utility of an integrative definition. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *79*, 370-380.
- Ed, S., Carlos Wing-hung, L., & Tom, R. (2008). The three-component model of occupational commitment: A comparative study of Chinese and British accountants. *Journal of Cross - Cultural Psychology*, 39, 765.

- Ed, S., & Tom, R. (2003). An evaluation of a three-component model of occupational commitment: Dimensionality and consequences among United Kingdom human resource management specialists. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 88, 152.
- Feldman-Summers, S., & Kiesler, S. B. (1974). Those who are number two try harder: The effect of sex on attributions of causality. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 30(6), 846-855.
- Fisher, J. L. (1984). *Power of the presidency*. New York: Macmillan Publishing Company.
- Fisher, J. L. (1985). Presidential Assistants: An unsung resource. AGB Report.
- Fisher, J. L., & Koch, J. V. (1996). Presidential leadership: Making a difference. Phoenix, AZ: The Oryx Press.
- Fisher, J. L., & Tack, M. W. (1988). Leaders on leadership: The college presidency (Vol. 16). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Fisher, J. L., Tack, M. W., & Wheeler, K. J. (1988). The effective college president. New York: American Council on Education/Macmillan Publishing Company.
- Frederique, E. S., Frank, G. A. d. B., & Leo, W. J. C. H. (2007). Judging a corporate leader's integrity: An illustrated three-component model. *European Management Journal; London*, 25, 185.
- French Jr., J. R. P., & Raven, B. (1959). The bases of social power. In D. Cartwright (Ed.), *Studies in social power* (pp. 150-167). Ann Arbor, MI: University of Michigan, Institute for Social Research.
- Funder, D. C. (1999). Personality judgment: a realistic approach to person perception.San Diego, CA: Academic.

Funder, D. C. (2004). The personality puzzle (3rd ed.). New York: Norton.

- Giddens, T. R. (1971). The assistant to the President: Who is He? *The Educational Record*, *52*, 357-360.
- Gilmour, J. E. (1995). *Power in the shadow of the president*. Unpublished Dissertation, Northwest Missouri State University.
- Goldberg, L. R. (1981). Language and individual differences: The search for universals in personality lexicons. In L. W. Wheeler (Ed.), *Review of personality and social psychology* (Vol. 2, pp. 141-165). Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Goldberg, L. R., & Digman, J. M. (1994). Revealing structure in the data: Principles of exploratory factor analysis. In S. Strack & M. Lorr (Eds.), *Differentiating normal and abnormal personality* (pp. 216-242). New York: Springer.
- Gonzalez, T. F., & Guillen, M. (2008). Organizational commitment: A proposal for a wider ethical conceptualization of 'normative commitment'. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 78, 401-414.
- Gould, S. (1979). Age, job complexity, satisfaction and performance. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *14*, 209-223.
- Gould, S., & Hawkins, B. (1978). Organizational career stage as a moderator of the satisfaction-performance relationship. *Academy of Management Journal*, 21, 434-450.

Gray, H. H. (1998). On the history of giants. Universities and their leadership, 101-115.

Green, M. F., Ross, M., & Holmstrom, E. (1988). *The American college president: A contemporary profile*. Washington, DC: American Council on Education.

- Hackett, R. D., Bycio, P., & Hausdorf, P. A. (1994a). Further assessments of Meyer and Allen's (1991) three-component model of organizational commitment. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 79, 15.
- Hackett, R. D., Bycio, P., & Hausdorf, P. A. (1994b). Further assessments of Meyer and Allen's (1991) three-component model of organizational commitment. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 79, 15-23.
- Hall, D. T., & Nougaim, K. (1968). An examination of Maslow's need hierarchy in an organizational setting. Organizational Behavior and Human Performance, 3, 12-35.
- Hall, T., & Mansfield, P. (1975). Relationship of age and seniority with career variables of engineers and scientists. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *60*, 201-210.
- Hammer, T. H., & Avgar, A. (2005). The impact of unions on job satisfaction,
 organizational commitment and turnover. *Journal of Labor Research*, 26(2),
 241-266.
- Harvir, S. B., Irving, P. G., & Shirley, F. T. (2004). A three-component model of customer commitment to service providers. *Academy of Marketing Science Journal*, 32, 234-250.
- Heere, B., & Dickson, G. (2008). Measuring attitudinal loyalty: Separating the terms of affective commitment and attitudinal loyalty. *Journal of Sport Management; Champaign*, 22(2), 5.
- Heider, F. (1944). Social perception and phenomenal causality. *Psychological Review*, *51*(6), 358-374.

- Heider, F. (1958). *The psychology of interpersonal relations*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Hrebiniak, L. G., & Alutto, J. A. (1972). Personal and role-related factors in the development of organizational commitment. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, *17*(4), 555-573.
- Hulin, C. L. (1991). Adaptation, persistence and commitment in organizations. In M. D.
 Dunnette (Ed.), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology* (Vol. 2, pp. 445-505). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Huo-Tsan, C., Nai-Wen, C., & Min-Chih, M. (2007). Testing the relationship between three-component organizational/occupational commitment and organizational/occupational turnover intention using a non-recursive model. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 70, 352.
- Ikenberry, S. O. (1998). From our president: Where are the giants? *The Presidency*, *1*(2), 5-6.
- Irving, P. G., Daniel, F. C., & Christine, L. C. (1997). Further assessments of a threecomponent model of occupational commitment: Generalizability and differences across occupations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82, 444-452.
- Iverson, R. D., & Buttigieg, D. M. (1999). Affective, normative and continuance commitment: Can the 'right kind' of commitment be managed? *Journal of Management Studies*, 36, 307-333.
- Jackson, D. N. (1970). A sequential system of personality scale development. In C. D. Spielberger (Ed.), *Current topics in clinical and community psychology* (Vol. 2, pp. 61-96). New York: Academic Press.

- Jacobs, T. O. (1972). *Leadership and social exchange*. Paper presented at the NATO sponsored conference on Leadership and management appraisal.
- Jaros, S. J. (1995). An assessment of Meyer and Allen's (1991) three-component model of organizational commitment and turnover intentions. *Academy of Management Journal, Best Papers Proceedings 1995*, 317.
- Jaros, S. J., Jermier, J. M., Koehler, J. W., & Sincich, T. (1993). Effects of continuance, affective, and moral commitment on the withdrawal process: An evaluation of eight structural equation models. *Academy of Management Journal*, *36*, 951-995.
- John, P. M., Srinivas, E. S., Jaydeep, B. L., & Laryssa, T. (2007). Employee commitment and support for an organizational change: Test of the threecomponent model in two cultures. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 80, 185.
- Johnson, R. E., & Chang, C.-H. (2006). "I" is to continuance as "We" is to affective: The relevance of the self-concept for organizational commitment. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 27(5), 549-570.
- Jong-Wook, K., James, L. P., & Charles, W. M. (1997). Assessment of Meyer and Allen's three-component model of organizational commitment in South Korea. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 82, 961-973.
- Judge, T. A., Bono, J. E., Thoresen, C. J., & Patton, G. K. (2001). The job satisfactionjob performance relationship: A qualitative and quantitative review. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 127, 367-407.

- Judge, T. A., Hanisch, K. A., & Drankoski, R. D. (1995). Human resource management and employee attitudes. In G. R. Ferris, S. D. Rosen & D. T. Barnum (Eds.), *Handbook of human resource management* (pp. 574-596). Cambridge, MA: Blackwell Publishers.
- Jung, C. G. (1959). The basic writings of C. G. Jung. New York: The Modern Library.
- Katz, R. (1978). Job longevity as a situational factor in job satisfaction. Administrative Science Quarterly, 23(2), 204-223.
- Katz, R. (1980). Time and work: Toward an integrative perspective. In B. M. Staw & L.L. Cummings (Eds.), *Research in organizational behavior* (Vol. 2). Greenwich,CN: JAI Press.
- Kinicki, A. J., Carson, K. P., & Bohlander, G. W. (1992). Relationship between an organization's actual human resource efforts and employee attitudes. *Group & Organization Management*, 17, 135-152.
- Korschgen, A., Fuller, R., & Gardner, J. (2001). The impact of presidential migration. AAHE [American Association for Higher Education] Bulletin, 53(6), 3.

Krosnick, J. (1999). Survey research. Annual Review of Psychology, 50, 537-567.

- Lee, T. W., Ashford, S. J., Walsh, J. P., & Mowday, R. T. (1992). Commitment propensity, organizational commitment, and voluntary turnover: A longitudinal study of organizational entry processes. *Journal of Management*, 18, 15.
- Lemaster, G. D. (2004). An investigation of the relationship between individual-culture congruence and affective, continuance, and normative commitment in selected Christian colleges and universities in southern California. Unpublished Dissertation, Regent University.

- Levinson, D. J., Darrow, C., Klein, E., Levinson, M., & McKee, B. (1978). *The seasons* of a man's life. New York: Knopf.
- Light, R. J., Singer, J. D., & Willett, J. B. (1990). *By design: Planning research in higher education*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Lingenfelter, M. (2001, January). Closing remarks: Expanding the definition of advancement. *CASE Currents*, 27, 72 & 71.

Lingenfelter, M. (2004, March). Make way for PAs. CASE Current, 13-14.

- Locke, E. A. (1967). Relationship of success and expectation to affect on goal-seeking tasks. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 7(2), 125-134.
- Locke, E. A. (1969). What is job satisfaction? *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, *4*, 309-336.
- Locke, E. A. (1970). Job satisfaction and job performance: A theoretical analysis. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, *5*, 484-500.
- Lofquist, L. H., & Dawis, R. V. (1969). Adjustment to work: A psychological view of man's problems in a work-oriented society. New York: Appleton-Century-Crofts.
- Lynne, H., & John, P. M. (2002). Commitment to organizational change: Extension of a three-component model. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 87, 474-487.

MacKinnon, D. W. (1944). The structure of personality. In J. M. Hunt (Ed.), Personality and the behavior disorders: A handbook based on experimental and clinical research (Vol. 1, pp. 3-48). New York: Ronald Press Company.

Malloy, E. A. (2003). Those indispensable presidential assistants. AGB Report, 5.

- Marsh, R. M., & Mannari, H. (1977). Organizational commitment and turnover: A predictive study. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 22, 57-75.
- Martin, J., & Samuels, J. E. (2004). A new model of transition management. In J.
 Martin, J. E. Samuels & Associates (Eds.), *Presidential transition in higher education: Managing leadership change* (pp. 5-20). Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Martin, J., Samuels, J. E., & Associates (2004). Presidential transition in higher education: Managing leadership change. Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Marvin, P. (1972). *Man in motion: A winning game plan for executives*. Homewood, IL: Dow Jones-Irwin.
- Mathieu, J. E., & Zajac, D. M. (1990). A review and meta-analysis of the antecedents, correlates, and consequences of organizational commitment. *Psychological Bulletin; Washington, 108*, 171.
- Matzler, K., & Renzl, B. (2007). Personality Traits, Employee Satisfaction and Affective Commitment. *Total Quality Management & Business Excellence*, 18(5), 589-598.
- McDade, S. A., Putnam, M., & Miles, B. S. (1996). *A national study of assistants to the president/chancellor in higher education* Washington, DC: National Association of Presidential Assistants in Higher Education (NAPAHE).
- McDade, S. A., Putnam, M., & Miles, B. S. (1999). A report on the national study of assistants to the president/chancellor in higher education. *NAPAHE News*, 1-4.

- McElroy, J. C., Morrow, P. C., Crum, M. R., & Dooley, F. J. (1995). Railroad employee commitment and work-related attitudes and perceptions. *Transportation Journal*, 34, 13-24.
- McElroy, J. C., Morrow, P. C., & Wardlow, T. R. (1999). A career stage analysis of police officer work commitment. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, *27*, 507.
- McGee, G. W., & Ford, R. C. (1987). Two (or more?) dimensions of organizational commitment: Reexamination of the affective and continuance commitment scales. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 72, 638-641.
- McGrath, E. J. (1938). The evolution of administrative offices in institutions of higher education in the United States from 1860 to 1933. Chicago: University of Chicago.
- McLaughlin, J. B. (2004). *Leadership amid controversy: Presidential perspectives*. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Merkies, A. H. Q. M., & Van der Meer, T. (1989). Scope of the three-component model. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 19, 601.
- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1984). Testing the 'side-bet theory' of organizational commitment: Some methodological considerations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 69(3), 372-378.
- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1987a). A longitudinal analysis of the early development and consequences of organizational commitment. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 19(2), 199-215.
- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1987b). Organizational commitment: Toward a threecomponent model. *Research Bulletin No. 660*.

- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1988). Links between work experiences and organizational commitment during the first year of employment: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of Occupational Psychology; Leicester, 61*, 195-209.
- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1991). A three-component conceptualization of organizational commitment. *Human Resource Management Review*, 1(1), 61-89.
- Meyer, J. P., & Allen, N. J. (1997). *Commitment in the workplace: Theory, research and application*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Meyer, J. P., Allen, N. J., & Gellatly, I. R. (1990). Affective and continuance commitment to the organization: Evaluation of measures and analysis of concurrent and time-lagged relations. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 75(6), 710-720.
- Meyer, J. P., Allen, N. J., & Smith, C. A. (1993). Commitment to organizations and occupations: Extension and test of a three-component conceptualization. *Journal* of Applied Psychology, 78(4), 538-551.
- Meyer, J. P., Bobocel, D. R., & Allen, N. J. (1991). Development of organizational commitment during the first year of employment: A longitudinal study of preand post-entry influences. *Journal of Management*, 17(4), 716-208.
- Meyer, J. P., & Herscovitch, L. (2001). Commitment in the workplace: Toward a general model. *Human Resource Management Review*, *11*, 299-326.
- Meyer, J. P., Paunonen, S. V., Gellatly, I. R., Goffin, R. D., & Jackson, D. N. (1989).
 Organizational commitment and job performance: It's the nature of the commitment that counts. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 74, 152-156.

- Meyer, J. P., Srinivas, E. S., Lal, J. B., & Topolnytsky, L. (2007). Employee commitment and support for an organizational change: Test of the threecomponent model in two cultures. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 80, 185-211.
- Meyer, J. P., Stanley, D. J., Herscovitch, L., & Topolnytsky, L. (2002). Affective, continuance and normative commitment to the organization: A meta-analysis of antecedents, correlates and consequences. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 61, 20-52.
- Miles, B. S. (2000). *Career paths of presidential assistants in higher education*. Unpublished Dissertation, Columbia University, New York.
- Montell, G. (2000, Friday, April 7). The president's alter ego. *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. Retrieved 06/28/2006, from

http://chronicle.com/jobs/news/2000/0/2000040702c.htm

- Moore, J. W., & Burrows, J. M. (2001). Presidential succession and transition: Beginning, ending, and beginning again. Washington, DC: American Association of State Colleges and Universities (AASCU).
- Moorman, R. H., Niehoff, B. P., & Organ, D. W. (1993). Treating employees fairly and organizational citizenship behavior: Sorting the effects of job satisfaction, organizational commitment and procedural justice. *Employee Responsibilities and Rights Journal*, 6(3), 209-225.
- Morrow, P. C., & McElroy, J. C. (1987). Work commitment and job satisfaction over three career stages. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 30*, 330-346.

- Mount, M. K. (1984). Managerial career stage and facets of job satisfaction. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *24*, 340-354.
- Mowday, R. T. (1998). Reflections on the study and relevance of organizational commitment. *Human Resource Management Review*, *8*, 387.
- Mowday, R. T., Porter, L. W., & Steers, R. M. (1982). *Employee-organization linkages: The psychology of commitment, absenteeism, and turnover*. New York: Academic Press.
- Mowday, R. T., Steers, R. M., & Porter, L. W. (1979). The measurement of organizational commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *14*, 224-247.
- Mowday, R. T., & Sutton, R. I. (1993). Organizational behavior: Linking individuals and groups to organizational contexts. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 44, 195.
- Myers, I. B. (1956). *MBTI: Form C.* Princeton, NJ: Educational Testing Service.
- Myers, I. B. (Ed.). (1998). Introduction to type: A guide to understanding your results on the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (6th ed.). Mountain View, CA: CPP, Inc.
- Myers, I. B., & McCaulley, M. H. (1985). Manual: A guide to the development and use of the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator (2nd ed.). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Myers, I. B., McCaulley, M. H., Quenk, N. L., & Hammer, A. L. (1994). MBTI
 Manual: A guide to the development and use of the Myers-Briggs type indicator
 (3rd ed.). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc.
- Myers, I. B., McCaulley, M. H., Quenk, N. L., & Hammer, A. L. (1998). MBTI
 Manual: A guide to the development and use of the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator
 (3rd ed.). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press, Inc.

- Myers, I. B., McCaulley, M. H., Quenk, N. L., & Hammer, A. L. (2003). MBTI
 Manual: A guide to the development and use of the Myers-Briggs Type Indicator
 (3rd ed.). Mountain View, CA: CPP, Inc.
- Myers, K. D., & Kirby, L. K. (1994). *Introduction to type dynamics and development: Exploring the next level of type*. Palo Alto, CA: CPP, Inc.
- NAPAHE (2007, February 12-13). National Association of Presidential Assistants in Higher Education (NAPAHE). Paper presented at the 20 years and counting: How presidential assistants have shaped higher education, Washington, DC.
- Nunnally, J. C., & Bernstein, I. H. (1994). *Psychometric theory* (3rd ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- O'Reilly III, C., & Chatman, J. (1986). Organizational commitment and psychological attachment: The effects of compliance, identification, and internalization on prosocial behavior. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *71*, 492.
- O'Reilly Jr., J. A. (2000). A study of assistants to the president at specialized institutions in higher education. Unpublished Dissertation, Columbia University.
- Ogawa, R. T., & Bossert, S. T. (2000). Leadership as an organizational quality *The Jossey-Bass reader on educational leadership* (pp. 38-58). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass
- Omar, N. S., Woody van, O., & Robert, A. R. (2008). Beyond the three-component model of organizational commitment. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, *93*, 70.
- Ones, D. S., Mount, M. K., Barrick, M. R., & Hunter, J. E. (1994). Personality and job performance: A criticitque of the Tett, Jackson and Rathstein (1991) metaanalysis. *Personnel Psychology*, 47(1), 147-156.

- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (2006). *Live longer, work longer.*
- Ott, J. S. (1989). Organization culture: Concepts, definitions, and a typology. In J. S. Ott (Ed.), *The organizational culture perspective* (pp. 49-73). Chicago: Dorsey Press.
- Ozag, D. (2006). The relationship between the trust, hope, and normative and continuance commitment of merger survivors. *Journal of Management Development*, *25*, 870-883.
- Padilla, A. (2004). Passing the baton: Leadership transitions and the tenure of presidents. In J. Martin, J. E. Samuels & Associates (Eds.), *Presidential transition in higher education: Managing leadership change* (pp. 37-58).
 Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University Press.
- Park, S. M., & Rainey, H. G. (2007). Antecedents, Mediators, and Consequences of Affective, Normative, and Continuance Commitment: Empirical Tests of Commitment Effects in Federal Agencies. *Review of Public Personnel Administration*, 27(3), 197-226.
- Porter, L. W., & Lawler III, E. E. (1968). *Managerial attitudes and performance*. Homewood, IL: Irwin-Dorsey.
- Porter, L. W., Steers, R. M., Mowday, R. T., & Boulian, P. V. (1974). Organizational commitment, job satisfaction and turnover among psychiatric technicians. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 59(5), 603-609.

- Quatroche, J. R. (1990). Presidential assistants in American colleges and universities:
 Results of a national study conducted for the Presidential Assistants in Higher
 Education. Washington, DC: American Council on Education.
- Rabinowitz, S., & Hall, D. T. (1981). Changing correlates of job involvement in three career stages. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *18*, 138-144.
- Raelin, J. A. (1985). Work patterns in the professional life-cycle. *Journal of Occupational Psychology*, 58, 177-187.
- Randall, D. M., Fedor, D. B., & Longenecker, C. O. (1990). The behavioral expression of organizational commitment. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *36*, 210-224.
- Rector, D. L. (2005). Understanding the context of presidential leadership on organizational culture: A case study of community colleges in Washington state.
 Unpublished Dissertation, University of Washington.
- Reid, M. F., Riemenschneider, C. K., Allen, M. W., & Armstrong, D. J. (2008).
 Information technology employees in state government: A study of affective organizational commitment, job involvement, and job satisfaction. *American Review of Public Administration*, 38(1), 41-61.
- Reilly, N. P., & Orsak, C. L. (1991). A career stage analysis of career and organizational commitment in nursing. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *39*, 311-330.
- Rhodes, F. H. T., & Trevor, H. (2000). The Glion Declaration II: On behalf of the Glion Colloquium. Washington, D.C.: Association of Governing Boards of Universities and Colleges (AGB).

- Richman, B. M., & Farmer, R. N. (1974). Leadership, goals, and power in higher education: A contingency and open-systems approach to effective management (First ed.). San Francisco: CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Ritter, L. A., & Sue, V. M. (2007a). Conducting the survey. *New Directions for Evaluation*(115), 47-50.
- Ritter, L. A., & Sue, V. M. (2007b). *Using online surveys in evaluation* San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Ritzer, G., & Trice, H. M. (1969). An empirical study of Howard Becker's side-bet theory. *Social Forces*, *47*, 475-479.
- Rothbart, M. K., & Bates, J. E. (1998). Temperament. In W. Damon & N. Eisenberger (Eds.), Handbook of child psychology: Vol. 3. Social, emotional and personality development (5th ed., Vol. 3rd, pp. 105-176). New York: Wiley.
- Rottweiler, J. D. (2005). *Presidential profiles: University presidents by institutional type, control, and reputation*. Unpublished Dissertation, University of Utah, Salt Lake, UT.
- Rudolph, F. (1990). *The American college and university*. Athens: University of Georgia Press.
- Rush, J. C., Peacock, A. C., & Milkovich, G. T. (1980). Career stages: A partial test of Levinson's model of life/career stages. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 16, 347-359.
- Saadia, T., & Mah Nazir, R. (2004). Validation of the three-component model of organizational commitment in Pakistan. *Pakistan Journal of Psychological Research; Islamabad, 19*, 123-149.

- Saucier, G., & Simonds, J. (2006). The structure of personality and temperament. In D.
 K. Mroczek & T. D. Little (Eds.), *Handbook of personality development* (pp. 109-128). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Slocum Jr., J. W., & Cron, W. L. (1985). Job attitudes and performance during three career stages. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *26*, 126-146.
- Smart, R. M. (1998). Career stages in Australian professional women: A test of super's model. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 52, 379-395.
- Smith, J. E., Carson, K. P., & Alexander, R. A. (1984). Leadership: It can make a difference. *Academy of Management Journal*, *27*(4), 765-776.
- Somers, M. J. (1993). A test of the relationship between affective and continuance commitment using non-recursive models. *Journal of Occupational & Organizational Psychology*, 66(2), 185-192.
- Spector, P. E. (1985). Measurement of human service staff satisfaction: Development of the Job Satisfaction Survey. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 13(6), 693-713.
- Spector, P. E. (1992). Summated rating scale construction: An introduction (Vol. 07-082). Newbury Park, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Spector, P. E. (1997). *Job satisfaction: Application, assessment, causes and consequences*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Spector, P. E., Allen, T. D., Poelmans, S. A. Y., Lapierre, L. M., Cooper, C. L., O'Driscoll, M., et al. (2007). Cross-national differences in relationships of work demands, job satisfaction and turnover intentions with work-family conflict. *Personnel Psychology*, 60, 805-835.

- Stebbins, R. A. (1970). On misunderstanding the concept of commitment: A theoretical clarification. *Social Forces*, *48*, 526-603.
- Steers, R. M., & Mowday, R. T. (1987). *Motivation and work behavior*. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Steers, R. M., Mowday, R. T., & Shapiro, D. L. (2004). The future of work motivation theory. Academy of Management Review, 29, 379-387.
- Stephens, R. D., Dawley, D. D., & Stephens, D. B. (2004). Director role potential as antecedents of normative and affective commitment on nonprofit boards. *Organizational Analysis*, 12, 395-413.
- Stevens, J. M., Beyer, J. M., & Trice, H. M. (1978). Assessing personal, role and organizational predictors of managerial commitment. Academy of Management Journal, 21, 380-396.
- Stiles, J. L. (2008). Presidential assistants in higher education: The association between situational leadership styles and their sources and use of power. Unpublished Dissertation, East Carolina University.
- Stine, R. A. (1995). Graphical Interpretation of Variance Inflation Factors. *The American Statistician*, 49(1), 53-56.
- Stumpf, S. A., & Rabinowitz, S. (1981). Career stage as a moderator of performance relationships with facets of job satisfaction and role perceptions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 18*, 202-218.
- Suliman, A., & Iles, P. (2000). Is continuance commitment beneficial to organizations?
 Commitment-performance relationship: a new look. *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 15, 407.

Super, D. (1957). The psychology of careers. New York: Harper.

- Tierney, W. G. (1999). Building the responsive campus: Creating high performance colleges and universities. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Tierney, W. G. (2001). Why committees don't work: Creating a structure for change. *Academe*, 87(3), 25-30.
- Tomas, F. G., & Manuel, G. (2008). Organizational commitment: A proposal for a wider ethical conceptualization of 'normative commitment'. *Journal of Business Ethics; JBE; Dordrecht*, 78, 401-414.
- Tourangeau, R., Rips, L. J., & Rasinski, K. (2000). *The psychology of survey response*. Cambridge, New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Tsai, P. C. F., Wu, S.-L., Yen, Y.-F. Y., Ho, C.-M., & Huang, I.-C. (2005). Study of remaining employees' continuance commitment after downsizing from the perspective of job satisfaction. *International Journal of Human Resources Development and Management; Geneva, 5*, 99-124.
- Turner Parish, J., Cadwallader, S., & Busch, P. (2008). Want to, need to, ought to: Employee commitment to organizational change. *Journal of Organizational Change Management*, 21, 32-52.
- Vaughan, G. B. (1990). Pathway to the presidency: Community college deans of instruction. Washington, DC: The Community College Press.
- Veiga, J. F. (1973). The mobile manager at mid career. *Harvard Business Review*, *51*, 115-119.
- Veiga, J. F. (1983). Mobility influences during managerial career stages. Academy of Management Journal, 26(1), 64-85.

- Vodopivec, M., & Dolenc, P. (2008). *Live longer, work longer: Making it happen in the labor market*: Social Protection & Labor and The World Bank.
- Weiss, D. J., Dawis, R. V., Lofquist, L. H., & England, G. W. (1967). Manual for the Minnesota satisfaction questionnaire. Minneapolis: Work Adjustment Project, Industrial Relations Center, University of Minnesota.
- Weiss, H. M. (2002). Deconstructing job satisfaction: Separating evaluations, beliefs and affective experiences. *Human Resources Management Review*, 12, 173-194.
- Wells, J. C. K., Fuller, N. J., Wright, A., Fewtrell, M. S., & Cole, T. J. (2003).Evaluation of air-displacement plethysmography in children aged 5-7 years using a three-component model of body composition. *90*, 699-707.
- Wiener, Y. (1982). Commitment in organizations: A normative view. The Academy of Management Review, 7(3), 418.
- Wiener, Y., & Vardi, Y. (1980). Relationships between job, organization, and career commitments and work outcomes: An integrative approach. *Organizational Behavior and Human Performance*, 26, 81-96.
- Wilson, B. J. (2000). Testing the resilience of presidents and institutions. *The Presidency*, *3*(1), 35.

APPENDIX A: INTERNAL REVIEW BOARD (IRB) APPROVAL

Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

Date:	Wednesday, December 10, 2008
IRB Application No	ED08184
Proposal Title:	A Study of the Intent to Stay of Presidential Assistants at Different Career Stages in Higher Education
Reviewed and Processed as:	Exempt
Status Recommended by Reviewer(s): Approved Protocol Expires: 12/9/2009	
Principal Investigator(s):	

Larry S Bassham P.O. Box 1705 Cushing, OK 74023

Edward Harris 308 Willard Stillwater, OK 74078

The IRB application referenced above has been approved. It is the judgment of the reviewers that the rights and welfare of individuals who may be asked to participate in this study will be respected, and that the research will be conducted in a manner consistent with the IRB requirements as outlined in section 45 CFR 46.

The final versions of any printed recruitment, consent and assent documents bearing the IRB approval stamp are attached to this letter. These are the versions that must be used during the study.

As Principal Investigator, it is your responsibility to do the following:

- 1. Conduct this study exactly as it has been approved. Any modifications to the research protocol must be submitted with the appropriate signatures for IRB approval.
- Submit a request for continuation if the study extends beyond the approval period of one calendar year. This continuation must receive IRB review and approval before the research can continue.
- Report any adverse events to the IRB Chair promptly. Adverse events are those which are unanticipated and impact the subjects during the course of this research; and
- 4. Notify the IRB office in writing when your research project is complete.

Please note that approved protocols are subject to monitoring by the IRB and that the IRB office has the authority to inspect research records associated with this protocol at any time. If you have questions about the IRB procedures or need any assistance from the Board, please contact Beth McTernan in 219 Cordell North (phone: 405-744-5700, beth.mcternan@okstate.edu).

Sincerely

Shelia Kennison, Chair Institutional Review Board

APPENDIX B – 1: LETTER OF INTRODUCTION

- To: Presidential Assistants
- From: Larry Shawn Bassham, Oklahoma State University
- Date: (Current Date)
- RE: Opportunity to participate in a study of presidential assistants

My name is Larry Shawn Bassham from Oklahoma State University and beginning the Fall of 2008, I am conducting my dissertation research on the organizational commitment of presidential assistants. I had the opportunity to introduce myself to several of you the past two years at the National Association of Presidential Assistants in Higher Education (NAPAHE) Conferences held in Washington, DC and San Diego, CA. I would like to invite you to become a participant in this dissertation study. Your participation is important and will be appreciated greatly.

Study Title: A Study of the Intent of Higher Education Presidential Assistants to Continue Employment at the Institution

The purpose of this research study is to examine the three-components of organizational commitment in relation to the career stages of presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States as an Undergraduate Instructional Program institution. These three-components of commitment are affective, continuance and normative. This study will compare the commitment levels reported by presidential assistants by differing ages and levels of organizational tenure and positional tenure. Moreover, the relative contributions of each career stage to each of the three-components of commitment will be isolated for examination.

If you decide to participate in this study, you may access the online survey instrument at <u>http://frontpage.okstate.edu/coe/shawnbassham</u>. If the link does not load the survey, you may copy the link and paste it into your browser.

The information collected cannot in any way be traced to participants, as the survey design program used to build this instrument is not capable of tracking respondents or tying information to individual participants. All responses will be voluntary and anonymous to meet stringent standards of confidentiality concerning the anonymity of participant's name and institution affiliation.

It is my hope the study will produce results that are publishable beyond the dissertation. Interested participants will be provided with a copy of the final study results upon written request.

If you have any questions and/or concerns that may help you decide to participate in this research study, please contact me. Inquiries concerning the dissertation process may be directed to my dissertation chair, Dr. Ed Harris. For information on your rights as a volunteer in this research, you may contact Dr. Shelia Kennison, IRB Chair, 219 Cordell North, Stillwater, OK 74078, (405) 744-1676 or irb@okstate.edu.

Thank you for your consideration of this study. You are making a difference in the profession of presidential assistants. Your contribution to your profession is appreciated greatly.

Principal Investigator: Larry Shawn Bassham 918-306-1398 larryshawn.bassham@okstate.edu

Dissertation Chair: Dr. Ed Harris, Ph.D. 405-744-7932 ed.harris@okstate.edu

APPENDIX B – 2: FOLLOW-UP NOTICE

To: Presidential Assistants

From: Larry Shawn Bassham, Oklahoma State University

Date: (Current Date)

RE: Reminder of an opportunity to participate in a study of presidential assistants

I am conducting my dissertation research on the organizational commitment of presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States as an Undergraduate Instructional Program institution. I would like to invite you to become a participant in this study. The focus of this study is on presidential assistants. Your participation is important and will be appreciated greatly.

Study Title: A Study of the Intent of Higher Education Presidential Assistants to Continue Employment at the Institution

I have recently emailed you an invitation to take the online survey that is currently being conducted at <u>http://frontpage.okstate.edu/coe/shawnbassham</u>. The information collected cannot in any way be traced to participants, as the survey design program used to build this instrument is not capable of tracking respondents or tying information to individual participants. All responses will be voluntary and anonymous to meet stringent standards of confidentiality concerning the anonymity of participant's name and institution affiliation.

It is my hope the study will produce results that are publishable beyond the dissertation. Interested participants will be provided with a copy of the final study results upon written request.

Thank you,

Larry Shawn Bassham College of Education Oklahoma State University

APPENDIX B - 3: FINAL NOTICE

To: Presidential Assistants

From: Larry Shawn Bassham, Oklahoma State University

Date: (Current Date)

RE: Final Notice of online survey on presidential assistants

In one week, the online survey website on presidential assistants in higher education will be removed. I would like to thank all those presidential assistants who have taken the survey for their participation. If you are a presidential assistant, either in a public and private higher education institution in the United States, as categorized in Carnegie Classification of Institutions of Higher Education's Undergraduate Instructional Program and have not taken the survey, I encourage you to do so.

The focus of this research study is to examine the three-components of organizational commitment in relation to the career stages of presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States as an Undergraduate Instructional Program institution. You may take the survey at http://frontpage.okstate.edu/coe/shawnbassham.

All responses will be voluntary and anonymous to meet stringent standards of confidentiality concerning the anonymity of participant's name and institution affiliation. The information collected cannot in any way be traced to respondents, as the survey design program used to build this instrument is not capable of tracking respondents or tying information to individual participants. Any association made between the name of the participant and this survey will be kept confidential.

Thank you for your participation.

Sincerely,

Larry Shawn Bassham College of Education Oklahoma State University

APPENDIX C: SURVEY INTRODUCTION & IMPLIED CONSENT STATEMENT

Presidential Assistants in Higher Education Please read before proceeding.

The purpose of this research study is to examine the three-components of organizational commitment in relation to the career stages of presidential assistants in an undergraduate higher education institution, either public or private, in the United States, as categorized by Carnegie Classification of Institutions of Higher Education. These three-components are affective, continuance and normative commitment. This study uses the *TCM Employee Commitment Survey* developed by Meyer and Allen (1991) as the measuring instrument.

This survey will take approximately five to ten minutes to complete. Your participation is strictly voluntary, and your anonymity as a participant will be protected. Data from this study will be stored with the primary investigator on compact disk for ten years from the beginning date of the study, and will be destroyed at the end of that period if no longer useful for research.

There is no risk to those responding to this survey. The information collected cannot in any way be traced to respondents, as the survey design program used to build this instrument is not capable of tracking respondents or tying information to individual participants.

If you have any questions or concerns, please contact, either my dissertation advisor or me. Our contact information is listed below. It is recommended that you please print a copy of this page for future reference.

If you have questions about your rights as a research volunteer, you may contact Dr. Shelia Kennison, IRB Chair, 219 Cordell North, Stillwater, OK 74078, 405-744-1676 or email request to <u>irb@okstate.ed</u>.

Thank you for your willingness to participate in this research study.

Primary Investigator: Larry Shawn Bassham P.O. Box 1705 Cushing, OK 74023 918-306-1398 larryshawn.bassham@okstate.edu Dissertation Chair: Dr. Ed Harris, Ph.D. 308 Willard Hall Stillwater, OK 74078 405-744-7932 ed.harris@okstate.edu

APPENDIX D: SURVEY INSTRUMENT

PRESIDENTIAL ASSISTANTS IN HIGHER EDUCATION ORGANIZATIONAL COMMITMENT

Answer the following with the Likert Scale 1 - 6.

1. Strongly Disagree; 2. Moderately Disagree; 3. Slightly Disagree; 4. Slightly Agree; 5. Moderately Agree and 6. Strongly Agree.

Affective Commitment Scale (ACS) items

- 1. I would be very happy to spend the rest of my career with this organization
- 2. I enjoy discussing my organization with people outside it
- 3. I really feel as if this organization's problems are my own
- 4. I think that I could easily become as attached to another organization as I am to this one (R)
- 5. I do not feel like 'part of the family' at my organization (R)
- 6. I do not feel 'emotionally attached' to this organization (R)
- 7. This organization has a great deal of personal meaning for me
- 8. I do not feel a strong sense of belonging to my organization (R)

Continuance Commitment Scale (CCS) items

- 1. I am not afraid of what might happen if I quit my job without having another one lined up (R)
- 2. It would be very hard for me to leave my organization right now, even if I wanted to
- 3. Too much in my life would be disrupted if I decided I wanted to leave my organization now
- 4. It wouldn't be too costly for me to leave my organization now (R)
- 5. Right now, staying with my organization is a matter of necessity as much as desire
- 6. I feel that I have too few options to consider leaving this organization
- 7. One of the few serious consequences of leaving this organization would be the scarcity of available alternatives
- 8. One of the major reasons I continue to work for this organization is that leaving would require considerable personal sacrifice another organization may not match the overall benefits I have here

Normative Commitment Scale (NCS) items

- 1. I think that people these days move from company to company too often
- 2. I do not believe that a person must always be loyal to his or her organization (R)
- 3. Jumping from organization to organization does not seem at all unethical to me (R)
- 4. One of the major reasons I continue to work for this organization is that I believe that loyalty is important and therefore feel a sense of moral obligation

to remain

- 5. If I got another offer for a better job elsewhere I would not feel it was right to leave my organization
- 6. I was taught to believe in the value of remaining loyal to one organization
- 7. Things were better in the days when people stayed with one organization for most of their careers
- 8. I do not think that wanting to be a 'company man' or 'company woman' is sensible anymore (R)

Note: (R) = reverse keyed items

Career Stage items

- 1. What year were you born:
- 2. How long have you been employed with the current organization:
- 3. How long have you served in the current position in this organization:

Demographic items

- 1. Gender:
- 2. Age:
- 3. Race/Ethnicity:
- 4. Highest degree held:
- 5. Employed:
- 6. Position title:
- 7. Directly report:
- 8. Total length of time you have served in higher education:
- 9. Total length of time worked at this institution:
- 10. Total length of time you have served as Presidential Assistant at this institution:
- 11. Total length of time the current President has served at this institution:
- 12. Total number of Presidents you have served at this institution as Presidential Assistant:
- 13. Personal Myers-Briggs Personality Preference Indicator:
- 14. Region of the United States employed:
- 15. Institution's Current Enrollment:
- 16. Institution's Carnegie Classification:
- 17. Public or Private Institution:
- 18. Salary range:
- 19. Have you experienced a Presidential transition at this institution:
- 20. Total number of Presidential transitions you have experienced:
- 21. Disposition of respondent upon departure of previous President:

APPENDIX E: TCM EMPLOYEE COMMITMENT SURVEY LICENSE AGREEMENT

– For Student Use



Licensee: Larry Shawn Bassham

Oklahoma State University

College of Education

Po Box 1705

Cushing, Oklahoma

74023

USA

918-306-1398

- Project: TCM Employee Commitment Survey Academic Package Student License for Use of the Survey in a Single Student Research Project (Academic Users Guide - Dec 2004.pdf)
- Date: 24 November 2008 8:33 PST

TCM EMPLOYEE COMMITMENT SURVEY LICENSE AGREEMENT

- FOR STUDENT USE

TCM EMPLOYEE COMMITMENT SURVEY LICENSE AGREEMENT – FOR STUDENT USE

As posted on November 10, 2008

IMPORTANT – PLEASE READ CAREFULLY: This License Agreement is a legally binding agreement between you and your employer, educational institution or organization (collectively "YOU") and The University of Western Ontario ("WESTERN") for the "TCM Employee Commitment Survey" and all associated documentation (together, the "Product") developed by Dr. John Meyer and Dr. Natalie Allen in the Faculty of Social Science at WESTERN. Your use of the Product is subject to the terms and conditions set forth below. Please carefully read the terms and conditions of this license agreement.

THIS LICENSE IS LIMITED TO A SINGLE USE OF THE PRODUCT IN A RESEARCH PROJECT. ADDITIONAL USES OF THE PRODUCT REQUIRE A RENEWAL LICENSE.

IF YOU AGREE TO BE BOUND BY THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, YOU SHOULD CLICK ON THE "I Accept" BOX AT THE BOTTOM OF THIS AGREEMENT. IF YOU DO NOT AGREE TO THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT, YOU ARE NOT AUTHORIZED TO ACCESS OR USE THE PRODUCT.

1. LICENSE TO USE: WESTERN hereby grants to YOU a non-exclusive, revocable, non-transferable, limited license to use the Product in a single Student Research Project, solely on the terms, conditions and restrictions contained in this Agreement. The rights granted to YOU shall, subject to the restrictions set out in Section 4, mean the right to use the Product for a Student Research Project, in accordance with the conditions contained in this Agreement. "Student Research Project" indicates the administration of the Product to a person(s) or an organization by a Student for the purpose of a single academic research study and fulfillment of course requirements whereby no consideration of any kind, payment or otherwise, is received from the participants, or any affiliates of the participants, for the results from administering the Product. Any use of the Product for consulting or other commercial purposes is strictly prohibited.

"Student" indicates a person registered and enrolled in a course of study, either part-time or full-time, at an academic institution. YOU agree (at the request of WESTERN or the Inventors) to provide WESTERN by facsimile with a photocopy of your student identification card in order to verify your status as a Student at the time this license was granted;

2. LICENSE FEE: In consideration for the rights granted to YOU by WESTERN under this Agreement, YOU must pay to WESTERN the license fee and any applicable taxes (the "License Fee") set out on the Download Summary screen, which YOU should print-out or download, and which is incorporated by reference into this Agreement. The License Fee shall be due and payable upon acceptance of the terms of this Agreement with acceptance of the terms of this Agreement. Neither all nor any portion of the License Fee shall be refundable to YOU under any circumstances. If paying by credit card, payment of the license fee must be made to UBC Research Enterprises, Inc. doing business as FLINTBOX, acting as WESTERN's authorized payment agent.

3. DELIVERY OF PRODUCT: WESTERN will provide YOU with the Product via web delivery after YOU have executed this Agreement and WESTERN has received payment of the License Fee from YOU.

4. OWNERSHIP & RESTRICTIONS: The Product and any and all knowledge, know-how and/or techniques relating to the Product, in whole or in part, is and will remain the sole and absolute property of WESTERN and WESTERN owns any and all right, title and interest in and to the Product. All inventions, discoveries, improvements, copyright, know-how or other intellectual property, whether or not patentable or copyrightable, created by WESTERN prior to, after the termination of, or during the course of this Agreement pertaining to the Product is and will remain the sole and absolute property of WESTERN. No right, title or interest in or to any trademark, service mark, logo, or trade name of WESTERN is granted to YOU under this Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing YOU shall not, and shall not authorize any third party to:

- make copies of the Product for any purpose other than as permitted in Section 1;
- challenge the integrity of the Product or any rights of ownership or in the copyright therefore;
- modify, create derivative works, or otherwise alter the Product or any part thereof for any purpose other than as permitted in Section 1;
- distribute, sell, lease, transfer, assign, trade, rent or publish the Product or any part thereof and/or copies thereof, to others;
- use the Product or any part thereof for any purpose other than as stated in Section 1 above;
- use the Product to process any data other than Your own;
- use the Product or any part thereof for any purpose other than as permitted in Section 1;
- allow any other person or entity to use the Product; or
- use, without its express permission, the name of WESTERN in advertising publicity, or otherwise.

This Product has been prepared initially in the English language, and the English version is the only authorized version of the Product. Any translated version is not endorsed or authorized by the Licensor as an official copy of the Product. Any translation of the Product shall require the express and prior consent of Western (direct all enquiries to <u>ecomm@uwo.ca</u>). Should permission be granted to translate the Product, Western does not represent or warrant that any translated versions of the Product are scientifically valid or appropriate for the use intended.

5. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS: All patents, copyrights, trade secrets, service marks, trademarks and other proprietary rights in or related to the Product and any improvements, modifications and enhancements thereof are and will remain the exclusive property of WESTERN or its licensors. YOU agree that YOU will not, either during or after the termination of this Agreement, contest or challenge the title to or the intellectual property rights of WESTERN or its licensors in the PRODUCT or any portion thereof.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF WESTERN: If YOU use or reference the Product in any publication (including scientific publications, electronic documents or websites) or derivative work, YOU must include appropriate acknowledgment of WESTERN and Dr. John Meyer and Dr. Natalie Allen as the inventors of the Product.

7. DISCLAIMER OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES: THE PRODUCT IS PROVIDED TO YOU BY WESTERN "AS IS", AND YOU ACKNOWLEDGE AND AGREE THAT WESTERN MAKES AND HAS MADE NO REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED. THERE ARE NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS OF THE PRODUCT FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR THAT THE USE OF THE PRODUCT WILL PROVIDE A DESIRED RESULT, OR THAT THE PRODUCT WILL OPERATE UNINTERRUPTED OR ERROR FREE OR THAT ANY DEFECTS IN THE PRODUCT WILL BE CORRECTED OR THAT THE USE OF THE PRODUCT WILL NOT INFRINGE ANY PATENT, COPYRIGHT, TRADEMARK OR OTHER RIGHTS OF A THIRD PARTY, OR ANY OTHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES. THE UNITED NATIONS CONVENTION ON THE INTERNATIONAL SALE OF GOODS SHALL NOT APPLY TO THE

PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT.

IN ADDITION, NOTHING IN THIS AGREEMENT IS OR WILL BE CONSTRUED AS A REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY BY WESTERN AS TO THE VALIDITY OR SCOPE OF ANY COPYRIGHT OR OTHER INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS IN THE PRODUCT.

8. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: WESTERN WILL NOT BE LIABLE TO YOU, YOUR END-USERS, OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY CAUSES OF ACTION, LIABILITY, LOSS OR DAMAGES CAUSED OR ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN CAUSED, EITHER DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, BY THE PRODUCT, OR THE USE, APPLICATION OR INTERPRETATION THEREOF, OR OF FLINTBOX. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING, IN NO EVENT WILL WESTERN BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOST REVENUE, PROFIT, BUSINESS INTERRUPTION OR LOST DATA, OR FOR SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED AND REGARDLESS OF THE THEORY OF LIABILITY, ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THE USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE THE PRODUCT EVEN IF WESTERN HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. SUBJECT TO THE FOREGOING LIMITATIONS, WESTERN'S TOTAL LIABILITY AS PROVED WILL BE RESTRICTED TO THE AMOUNT OF THE LICENSE FEES (IF ANY) ACTUALLY PAID TO WESTERN.

9. INDEMNITY: YOU WILL INDEMNIFY, DEFEND AND HOLD HARMLESS WESTERN, ITS BOARD OF GOVERNORS, FACULTY, STAFF, STUDENTS AND AGENTS FROM AND AGAINST ANY AND ALL CAUSES OF ACTION, LIABILITY, LOSS, DAMAGES, ACTION, CLAIM OR EXPENSE (INCLUDING ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS) IN CONNECTION WITH ANY CLAIM, SUIT, CAUSES OF ACTION, DEMAND OR JUDGEMENT ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH, RESULTING FROM, OR SUSTAINED AS A RESULT OF USE OF THE PRODUCT, OR IN EXECUTING AND PERFORMING THIS AGREEMENT.

10. TERM: This Agreement commences on the date the Product is electronically or physically delivered to YOU and continues in effect unless it is terminated in accordance with this clause. YOU may terminate this Agreement at any time by ceasing use of the Product. This Agreement is limited to use in a single Student Research Project and shall terminate at the conclusion of the Research Project. Use of the Product in subsequent research requires a renewal of the license. WESTERN may terminate this Agreement upon giving YOU 90 days' notice, or upon its election to no longer make the Product available. This Agreement will terminate immediately without notice from WESTERN if YOU fail to comply with any provision of this Agreement. On termination for breach or at Western's election, YOU must immediately delete and destroy all electronic and physical copies of the Product in Your possession or control. On any termination of this Agreement, the Disclaimer of Representations and Warranties, Limitation of Liability and Indemnity provisions of this Agreement shall survive, notwithstanding such termination.

11. REPRESENTATIONS/USE OF FLINTBOX: YOU represent and warrant that YOU possess the legal authority to enter into this Agreement, and that YOU will be financially responsible for YOUR use of the Product and of the download service ("FLINTBOX"). YOU agree to be responsible for any License Fees, costs, charges and taxes arising out of your use of the Product and FLINTBOX. YOU are responsible for supplying any hardware or Product necessary to use the Product and FLINTBOX pursuant to this Agreement.

WESTERN is not responsible or liable for the availability of FLINTBOX, and is not responsible or liable for any damage or loss caused, or alleged to be caused by the use of FLINTBOX including loss of data or the presence of a virus, worm, trojan horse or similar impairment.

12. JURISDICTION: WESTERN is located in and operates from Ontario, Canada and this Agreement will be governed and interpreted according to the laws of Ontario and any applicable federal laws. YOU agree that by accepting the terms of this Agreement and using the Product YOU submit to the exclusive
jurisdiction of the Courts of competent authority in the City of London, Province of Ontario, Canada.

USE OF THE PRODUCT OR FLINTBOX IS PROHIBITED IN ANY JURISDICTION WHICH DOES NOT GIVE EFFECT TO THE TERMS OF THIS AGREEMENT.

13. GENERAL PROVISIONS:

(a) YOU agree that no joint venture, partnership, employment, consulting or agency relationship exists between YOU and WESTERN as a result of this Agreement or your use of FLINTBOX.

(b) This Agreement is the entire agreement between YOU and WESTERN relating to this subject matter. YOU will not contest the validity of this Agreement merely because it is in electronic form.

(c) No modification of this Agreement will be binding, unless in writing and accepted by an authorized representative of each party.

(d) The provisions of this Agreement are severable in that if any provision in the Agreement is determined to be invalid or unenforceable under any controlling body of law, that will not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions of the Agreement.

(e) All prices are in Canadian dollars and prices are subject to change without notice. WESTERN will not be liable for any typographical errors, including errors resulting in improperly quoted prices on the Download Summary screen.

(f) YOU agree to print out or download a copy of this Agreement and retain it for your records.

(g) YOU consent to the use of the English language in this Agreement.

If you have any questions or comments, please contact us. Sincerely,

Flintbox Customer Support Email: <u>support@flintbox.com</u> Phone: 604.678.9981 Website: <u>www.flintbox.com</u>

VITA

LARRY SHAWN BASSHAM

CANDIDATE FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF EDUCATION

DISSERTATION: A STUDY OF THE INTENT OF HIGHER EDUCATION PRESIDENTIAL ASSISTANTS TO CONTINUE EMPLOYMENT

MAJOR FIELD: HIGHER EDUCATION

BIOGRAPHICAL:

EDUCATION:

Completed the requirements for the Doctorate of Education in Higher Education at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in July 2009.

Completed the requirements for the Master of Arts in Christian Education at Southwestern Baptist Theological Seminary, Fort Worth, Texas in May 2000.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Arts in Theology at Hillsdale Free Will Baptist College, Moore, Oklahoma in May 1990.

EXPERIENCE:

Graduate Assistant in the College of Education at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma from August 2005 to May 2007.

Adjunct Instructor in the Adult Education Program (ABLE) at Hillsdale Free Will Baptist College, Moore, Oklahoma from August 1998 to May 2006.

Adjunct Instructor in the Communication Arts at Oral Roberts University, Tulsa, Oklahoma from August 1999 to May 2002.

Math Teacher and Girls Basketball Coach at Jenks Road Christian Academy, Jenks, Oklahoma from August 1999 to May 2000.

Assistant Vocational Agriculture Teacher at Drumright Public High School, Drumright, Oklahoma from August 1997 to May 1999 Name: Larry Shawn Bassham

Date of Degree: July 2009

Institution: Oklahoma State University

Location: Stillwater, Oklahoma

Title of Study: A STUDY OF THE INTENT OF HIGHER EDUCATION PRESIDENTIAL ASSISTANTS TO CONTINUE EMPLOYMENT

Pages in Study: 135

Candidate for the Degree of Doctorate of Education

Major Field: Higher Education

Scope and Method of Study:

The purpose of this study was to examine three-components of organizational commitment (affective, continuance and normative) relative to the career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) of college and university presidential assistants in both public and private higher education institutions in the United States. This study examined the ability of career stages (age, organizational tenure and positional tenure) to predict the commitment levels (affective, continuance and normative) reported by presidential assistants.

Organizational commitment theory provided the framework for this study, with the Three-Component Model (TCM) of organizational commitment developed by Meyer and Allen (1991).

Findings and Conclusions:

Building upon the work of Allen and Meyer (1993), this study employed the TCM to collect the respondent's commitment levels to the institution where he or she was currently employed. The study further supported the reliability of the instrument with the new population, as well as, confirmed that career stages have a positive relationship with the three-component commitment of presidential assistants. These career stages were also found to predict presidential assistants' commitment levels to their current institution.